Signatures of primordial black holes in gravitational wave clustering

Sarah Libanore,^{*a,b,c*} Michele Liguori,^{*b,c,d,e*} Alvise Raccanelli^{*b,c,e*}

^aDepartment of Physics, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Be'er Sheva 84105, Israel

^bDipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia G. Galilei, Università degli Studi di Padova, Via Marzolo 8, 35131 Padova, Italy

 $^c\mathrm{INFN},$ Sezione di Padova, Via Marzolo 8, I-35131, Padova, Italy

^dDipartimento di Fisica, Università degli Studi di Trento, Via Sommarive 14, I-38123 Povo (TN), Italy

 $^e\mathrm{INAF}$ - Osservatorio Astronomico di Padova, Vicolo dell'Osservatorio 5, I-35122 Padova, Italy

E-mail: libanore@bgu.ac.il

Abstract. The possible existence of primordial black holes (PBHs) is an open question in modern cosmology. Among the probes to test it, gravitational waves (GW) coming from their mergers constitute a powerful tool. In this work, we study how stellar mass PBH binaries could affect measurements of the clustering of merger events in future GW surveys. We account for PBH binaries formed both in the early and late Universe and show that the power spectrum modification they introduce can be detected at ~ $2\sigma - 3\sigma$ (depending on some assumptions) whenever PBH mergers make up at least ~ 60% of the overall number of detected events. By adding cross-correlations with galaxy surveys, this threshold is lowered to ~ 40%. In the case of a poor redshift determination of GW sources, constraints are degraded by about a factor of 2. Assuming a theoretical model for the PBH merger rate, we can convert our results to constraints on the fraction of dark matter in PBHs, f_{PBH} . Finally, we perform a Bayesian model selection forecast and confirm that the analysis we develop could be able to detect ~ $30 M_{\odot}$ PBHs if they account for $f_{PBH} \sim 10^{-4} - 10^{-3}$, depending on the model uncertainty considered, being thus competitive with other probes.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Primordial black hole binaries	3
3	Source distribution and bias	5
	3.1 Astrophysical black holes	5
	3.2 Primordial black holes	5
	3.3 Observed redshift distribution and bias	6
4	Analysis	7
	4.1 Setup	8
	4.2 Cross-correlation with galaxy surveys	9
5	Results	10
	5.1 Signal-to-Noise Ratio	11
	5.2 Bias forecasts	13
	5.3 Constraints on $f_{\rm PBH}$	15
	5.4 Model selection	18
6	Conclusions	21
Bi	ibliography	23
\mathbf{A}	Model dependence on subpopulation abundances	32
в	Angular power spectrum formalism	33
С	Full set of results	36
	C.1 SNR: detector dependence	36
	C.2 Fisher matrix: model dependence	36
	C.3 Fisher matrix: detector dependence	37

1 Introduction

We are on the verge of the fourth gravitational wave (GW) observational run by the LIGO-Virgo-Kagra Collaboration (LVK) and the increasing number of GW detections (e.g., [1-5]) foresees the capability of using this observable for statistical studies, in astrophysics and cosmology. Many works recently showed that GW provide a valuable tool to study the large scale structures (LSS) of the Universe and their clustering properties, being complementary to galaxy surveys in mapping them [6–10]. Next generation GW detectors from the ground, such as the Einstein Telescope (ET) [11–13], Cosmic Explorer (CE) [14], or from space e.g., LISA [15, 16] and DECIGO [17], will fully exploit this possibility.

Previous works (e.g., [8, 9, 18–25]) investigated the predicted constraining power of GW surveys alone or through cross-correlations with other LSS surveys, to measure cosmological parameters and the bias of the hosts of binaries that source GWs. Cosmological studies that

use GWs, however, have to deal with large uncertainties in the sky localization of merger events, as well as the lack of redshift information, as only the luminosity distance can be directly estimated from the detected waveform. Different solutions exist: either electromagnetic counterparts or host galaxies are observed (see e.g., [5, 26]), or cross-correlations can be used to statistically associate an estimated redshift and position to the GW event [20, 27, 28]. A powerful and promising alternative is to directly use luminosity distance from the GW signal as the radial coordinate: by mapping sources in luminosity distance space, one can make use of GW surveys alone, without the need of external datasets or assumptions. The use of luminosity distance space however requires to compute how LSS affect the estimates of the observed position of the sources i.e., distortions due to peculiar velocities and relativistic effects [6, 29–35]. Alternatively, if the goal is not to constrain cosmological parameters, the luminosity distance of the observed GW events can be transformed into redshift by assuming the fiducial Λ CDM cosmology, provided that large enough bins are used to account for uncertainties in the conversion, in the same fashion as photometric galaxy surveys.

In [9, 18] it was shown that the use of luminosity distance space in combination with the large volumes probed and the high luminosity distance resolution of future GW detectors will put tight constraints on the bias parameters of the hosts of GW sources. This will be reached through the tomographic analysis of their angular power spectra even in the case of poor sky localization. The analysis of the clustering of GW events and the estimation of the bias of their hosts present a very interesting application, related to the study of the merger progenitors' formation channels. In fact, the different processes through which binaries can form lead to different dependecies of their clustering with respect to the underlying DM field.

Focusing on black hole binary (BBH) mergers, the work of [36] firstly investigated the use of the bias as a tool to disentangle between astrophysical black hole (ABH) binaries and primordial black hole (PBH) binaries. While the black hole components of the former descend from stellar evolution (see section 3.1), the ones of the latter are part of the DM content of the Universe, being formed from perturbations in the very early Universe and bound together across cosmic time (see section 2 and 3.2). Different models have been proposed for PBH formation, which predict different abundances and spread a wide mass range. Constraints on them, therefore, can be derived through several techniques and observables, such as e.g., lensing, CMB distortions, and others (see [37–39] and references therein for a review).

GW observations can also be used as a probe for PBHs: being formed in a completely different way with respect to ABHs, the merger of their binaries would trace the LSS in a different way. Even if, considering ABHs and PBHs having comparable masses (i.e., ~ $5-100M_{\odot}$,) the GW signal produced by their merger would be completely indistinguishable, surveys dominated either by ABHs or PBHs should have different merger rates [40] and show different tomographic angular power spectra. The work of [36] and other follow-up analyses [8, 19, 20, 41] showed how the cross-correlation between GW and galaxy surveys changes depending on ABH/PBH relative abundance.

In this work we refined previous analyses and we propose a complementary way to understand whether future GW surveys will be able to test the existence of PBHs or not. We perform our analysis in redshift space by making use of 5 redshift bins large enough to take into account the uncertainties in the conversion from observed luminosity distance to redshift under the fiducial *Planck 2018* cosmology [42]. We consider how the different bias behaviors of ABHs and PBHs will combine in an overall effective bias in future GW datasets. Its functional form depends on the relative abundance of the two, as well as on the presence of early and late binary subpopulations in the PBH component and on their modelling. We adopt a phenomenological prescription to understand how this propagates in the angular power spectra that will be observed by future GW surveys alone or in crosscorrelation with galaxy surveys. Depending on the PBH abundance, the estimate of the bias will be suitable to perform model selection analyses aimed at distinguishing the scenario in which only ABHs exist, to the ones where also PBH mergers contribute to the observed GW events. We finally convert our phenomenological results to constraints on the dark matter (DM) fraction possibly made by PBHs. Being based on a statistical analysis, differently from other recent results [40], our approach does not require precise measurements or assumptions on the very high redshift, neither for the merger rate nor for the luminosity distance of single merger events. Moreover, our method is sensitive to PBHs abundances that leave the overall local merger rate compatible with LVK constraints.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we revise the most important features regarding PBH binary formation and mergers detection, while in section 3 we describe the ABH and PBH distributions and biases we adopted. The analysis setup and the statistical tool we adopted are collected in section 4, while section 5 presents our results. In particular, in sections 5.1 and 5.2 we perform SNR and Fisher matrix forecasts for the effective bias detection based on our phenomenological assumption, while in section 5.3 and 5.4 we move to model-dependent Bayesian model selection forecasts for PBH abundance as DM component. All the analyses are performed with respect to third generation GW surveys, i.e., Einstein Telescope, alone or combined with two Cosmic Explorer instruments, and then in cross-correlation with galaxy surveys, for which we assume two example of a wide and deep surveys, modeled roughly with the specifications of SPHEREx - *like* [43–45] and ATLAS Explorer - *like* [46–48]. We finally draw our conclusions in section 6.

2 Primordial black hole binaries

The hypothesis of the existence of PBH dates back to the '70s [49, 50]: before the matterradiation equivalence, they can form from high density perturbations which collapse under the effect of gravity, overcoming pressure forces and the cosmic expansion acting at the time [50–54]. Nowadays, different theoretical models exist to explain their possible formation in the early Universe and several probes constrain their abundance (a complete description is beyond the scope of this work; see e.g., [37–39, 55] for some reviews). Formation mechanisms are mostly related to the existence of large curvature perturbations, due e.g., to blue tilt in the primordial power spectrum (e.g., [56–58]), inflationary potentials that create peaks on small scales (e.g., [54, 59, 60]), curvature perturbations (e.g., [54, 61]), non-Gaussianity (e.g., [62, 63]) or primordial running spectral index (e.g., [58, 64]), or processes during inflation (e.g. [65]). Other explanations for PBH existence involve e.g., bubble collisions in phase transitions [66–68], non linear processes [69] or cosmic strings [70–72].

It is customary to define:

$$f_{\rm PBH} = \frac{\Omega_{\rm PBH}}{\Omega_{\rm DM}},\tag{2.1}$$

as the DM fraction composed by PBH ($\Omega_{\rm PBH,DM}$ are the dimensionless energy densities of PBH and DM, respectively). The value of $f_{\rm PBH}$ is currently constrained using different techniques and observations for different PBH mass functions (see e.g., [37–39, 73] for a summary): assuming a monochromatic mass distribution, they seem to exclude the possibility of $f_{\rm PBH} = 1$, with the exception of the range $M_{\rm PBH} \in [10^{-16}, 10^{-10}] M_{\odot}$ (asteroid – sublunar masses). Lower values of $f_{\rm PBH}$ could still be allowed in other mass ranges, between which of

particular interest are the windows $M_{\text{PBH}} \in [10^{-7}, 10^{-5}] M_{\odot}$ and $M_{\text{PBH}} \in [5, 100] M_{\odot}$. By considering a broad mass function, $f_{\text{PBH}} = 1$ could be recovered as well.

The $M_{\text{PBH}} \in [5, 100] M_{\odot}$ case is particularly interesting: PBH of such masses could be part of the progenitors of the merger events observed by the LIGO-Virgo-Kagra Collaboration (see e.g., [7, 74, 75]). In fact, if such objects exist, they can form binaries and merge, contributing to the signals observed by current and future interferometers. Provided the uncertainty on the mass function, the GW emitted could fall in different frequency ranges.

To form PBH binaries that merge within a Hubble time, there are two possible formation channels to account for, which we call Early PBH binaries (EPBH) and Late PBH binaries (LPBH), and the two can coexist. Both of them, after formation, evolve via GW emission: the energy released by their quadrupole moment shrinks the orbit until the merger.

Early PBH binaries were firstly theorized by [76, 77] as systems that bound together and decouple from the Universe expansion in the radiation dominated era. After formation, binaries are affected by tidal forces due to the rest of the DM field, being this made by PBH or other components [76–79]. This enhances the angular momentum of the PBHs in the binary, increasing the time they require to inspiral and retarding the merger, making it observable today. Three-body interactions can lead to binary disruption as well. Since early binaries randomly form wherever PBHs are located, they follow closely the DM distribution both at their formation and throughout cosmic time. For this reason, at first approximation, their bias can be modeled as unity, as PBHs in this case would directly trace the DM field:

$$b^E = 1.$$
 (2.2)

Late PBH binaries instead form for dynamical capture, when two PBHs approach each other and, after losing energy through GW emission, get bound [7]. Even if single PBHs closely follow the DM distribution, dynamical captures take place when DM halos already formed: therefore, the cross-section of this process depends on the velocity dispersion inside the halos, which in turn depends on the halo mass M_h .¹ As [7, 36] firstly highlighted, this implies that late PBH binaries are mainly hosted by halos of mass $M_h < 10^6 M_{\odot}$ [36]. The bias of late binaries can be approximated through the bias of their hosts, which in this M_h range is [81]

$$b^L \approx 0.5$$
. (2.3)

In this work we focus on future GW experiments, as the number or mergers detected with current and near future detectors (first and second generation) does not allow a powerful enough statistical analysis. The main proposed future observatories from the ground are the Einstein Telescope (ET, [11–13]) and Cosmic Explorer (CE, [14, 82]): despite their different shape and technology, these two experiments will have comparable sensitivity on the same frequency range. The number of binary mergers observed and the distance reached will be considerably larger than what will be obtained with second generation detectors. Moreover, combining detections from the two instruments or from a ET2CE configuration will improve the sky localization of GW events (see e.g., [83] for a recent analysis). For this reason, the merger event catalogs they will provide will be ideal to pursue statistical analyses.

¹Dynamical capture can also be a formation channel for ABH-PBH binaries. Their contribution to the overall merger rate depends on the environment where the binary is formed (mainly relative velocity and number densities of the two populations) and is in general subdominant [80].

3 Source distribution and bias

The progenitors of the BBH mergers observed with GW interferometers are either deriving from stellar evolution and astrophysical processes (which we will call ABH, see e.g., [84–86] and references therein) or they date back to primordial origin (PBH, see previous sections and e.g., [37, 38, 49, 50]). Assuming that both ABH and PBH masses lie in the range $\sim 5-100M_{\odot}$, the GW signals produced during the merger of their binaries are in principle indistinguishable. While specific parameters, e.g., redshift range or mass and spin distributions can indicate a preferential astrophysical or primordial origin, in principle any GW survey detects both ABH and PBH mergers as events in luminosity distance space, and is therefore *blind* to their origin.

A very interesting fact, that is at the base of our work, is that the distribution and clustering properties of ABH binaries are different from the ones of PBH binaries, as they trace the LSS differently. As firstly hinted in [7], on one hand, ABHs are the endpoint of stellar evolution and for this reason they are found in galaxies, which in the standard hierarchical scenario mainly form within massive DM halos. On the other hand, PBH binaries, as we saw, can form through more than one channel, each tracing the LSS differently: Poissonian distributed early binaries, in which PBH bound together right after their formation, and late binaries, formed through dynamical capture mainly in small DM halos. This leads to different redshift distributions and bias properties of mergers in different scenarios.

3.1 Astrophysical black holes

To model the ABH number distribution, we assume that the merger rate evolution in redshfit is consistent with the star formation rate described by the Madau-Dickinson model [87]. Following [83], we model the ABH normalized merger rate as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{A}(z) = \frac{(1+z)^{\alpha_{1}^{A}}}{1 + [(1+z)/(1+\alpha_{3}^{A})]^{\alpha_{1}^{A} + \alpha_{2}^{A}}},$$
(3.1)

where $\alpha_1^A = 2.7$, $\alpha_2^A = 3$, $\alpha_3^A = 2$. As for the bias, we use the fit that [88] estimates from clustering measurements on hydrodynamical cosmological simulations combined with population synthesis models [89–91]. We therefore parameterize the bias of the ABH population as

$$b^{A}(z) = A(z+1)^{D}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where A = 1.2, D = 0.59. According to results in [88], the errorbars on the measurements from which the fit is obtained are $\leq 50\%$ for $z \in [1, 6]$.

3.2 Primordial black holes

We parameterize the normalized merger rates of E/L PBH binaries through the power law

$$\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{E,L}(z) = (1+z)^{\alpha_{E,L}}.$$
(3.3)

For early binaries, we interpolate the results of [79] and get $\alpha_E = 1.25$, while for late binaries we consider $\alpha_L = 0$, since at first approximation the gravitational capture process in small DM halos (which formed earlier than the z_{max} we adopt) can be considered as redshift independent.

3.3 Observed redshift distribution and bias

In order to account for the different types of progenitors, in this work we consider the total binary black hole merger rate in a GW survey to be

$$\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z) = \mathcal{R}^A(z) + \mathcal{R}^P(z) = \mathcal{R}^A(z) + \mathcal{R}^E(z) + \mathcal{R}^L(z), \qquad (3.4)$$

where A = ABH and P = PBH of E, L = early/late type. We re-express the merger rates of the different binary types by the means of the phenomenological parameters $\{f^E, f^L\}$, defined as the ratio between the early or late PBH and the total local merger rates, namely

$$f^E = \mathcal{R}_0^E / \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}, \quad f^L = \mathcal{R}_0^L / \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}.$$
(3.5)

By doing so, the redshift evolution of the total merger rate is written as

$$\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z) = \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}} \left\{ \left[1 - (f^E + f^L) \right] \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^A(z) + f^E \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^E(z) + f^L \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^L(z) \right\},$$
(3.6)

where the normalized merger rates $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{A,E,L}(z)$ are defined in eqs. (3.1) and (3.3); note that the relative ABH, EPBH, LPBH abundances evolve in z depending on the values of $\{f^E, f^L\}$. In our setup, the merger rate is model dependent i.e., it varies because of the relative abundance not only of ABH and PBH binaries, but also of early and late PBH. Using eq. (3.6), the observed number distribution of events per redshift bin z and solid angle Ω observed by a GW survey can be estimated as

$$\frac{d^2 N^{\rm GW}}{dz d\Omega} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}} \left[\frac{c \,\chi^2(z)}{(1+z)H(z)} T_{\rm obs} \mathcal{R}^{\rm tot}(z) \Theta(z_{\rm max}-z) \right] \,, \tag{3.7}$$

where c is the speed of light, $\chi(z)$ is the comoving distance, H(z) is the Hubble parameter, T_{obs} is the survey observation time, Θ the Heaviside function and z_{max} the detector horizon (see section 4.1 for further details); the factor \mathcal{N} is defined as

$$\mathcal{N} = N^{\rm GW} T_{\rm obs} \left[\Omega_{\rm full\, sky} \int_{z_{\rm min}}^{z_{\rm max}} dz \, \frac{d^2 N^{\rm GW}}{dz d\Omega} \right]^{-1}, \tag{3.8}$$

where $\Omega_{\text{full sky}} \simeq 40000 \text{ deg}^2$ is the solid angle corresponding to the full sky and N^{GW} the total number of binary black hole mergers the GW survey observes each year. The factor \mathcal{N} is used to rescale the number distribution, so to fix the total number of observed events N^{GW} to a customary value. This is equivalent to define an effective merger rate, which at z = 0 is anchored² at $\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}/\mathcal{N}$, while it evolves in z depending on $\{f^E, f^L\}$.

Being the survey *blind* to the origin of the merger progenitors, the effective black hole merger bias estimated from it can be computed by weighing the ABH, EPBH, LPBH biases

²Substituting eqs. (3.1), (3.3) in eq. (3.6), at z = 0 we obtain

$$\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z=0) = \frac{\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}}{(1+\alpha_3^A)^{\alpha_1^A + \alpha_2^A}} + (f^E + f^L) \left(1 - \frac{\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}}{(1+\alpha_3^A)^{\alpha_1^A + \alpha_2^A}}\right) \sim \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}},\tag{3.9}$$

where the last equality depends on $1 - 1/(1 + \alpha_3^A)^{\alpha_1^A + \alpha_2^A} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-3})$. When $\mathcal{N} = 1$, this result is consistent with LVK constraints for any $\{f^E, f^L\}$. Using $\mathcal{N} > 0$ allows us to select a fraction of the observed events.

by their relative merger rates at each z, namely

$$b_{\text{eff}}(z) = \frac{\mathcal{R}^A(z)}{\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z)} b^A(z) + \frac{\mathcal{R}^E(z)}{\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z)} b^E(z) + \frac{\mathcal{R}^L(z)}{\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z)} b^L(z) = \frac{\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}}{\mathcal{R}^{\text{tot}}(z)} \bigg[\big[1 - (f^E + f_0^L) \big] \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^A(z) b^A(z) + f^E \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^E(z) b^E(z) + f^L \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^L(z) b^L(z) \bigg].$$
(3.10)

The ABH, EPBH, LPBH merger rate functional forms $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{A,E,L}(z)$ and biases $b^{A,E,L}(z)$, are computed following the prescriptions in sections 3.1, 3.2. Note that we indicate with $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}(z)$ the redshift evolution of the merger rate normalized by the local value, namely $\mathcal{R}(z) = \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}\tilde{\mathcal{R}}(z)$. We stress that eq. (3.10) does not describe the intrinsic bias of one population, but it represents an effective quantity. The slope of its redshift evolution, thus, can also decrease in z since it averages the bias models of ABH, early PBH and late PBH binaries weighted by their relative merger rates; in the rest of the paper we will omit the _{eff} notation for simplicity.

The observed number distribution and effective bias are shown in figure 1, where in grey we also show their values for the three populations as if they would comprise the entirety of the observed mergers. In our analysis, we explore different $\{f^E, f^L\}$ fractions and detectors setup; for the sake of clarity, we show results for $f^E = 0.2$ and our fiducial ET2CE, in which the local, overall merger rate is set to $\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}} = 27 \,\text{Gpc}^{-3} \text{yr}^{-1}$, the number of merger events observed each year is $N^{\text{GW}} = 1.1 \times 10^5$ (following the prescriptions of [83], where the ET-D design³ is adopted, and in agreement with the latest LVK O3 constraints at 95% CL [5]; further details in section 4) and the observation time is $T_{\text{obs}} = 10 \,\text{yr}$. We choose the value $f^E = 0.2$ to illustrate our results since it describes an intermediate scenario for the EPBH abundance, while at the same time it allows us to span LPBH over a wide range. A further reason why such EPBH fraction is interesting is that [75] claimed that the presence of ~ 30% EPBH in the observed events of the second LVK run is statistically favoured by hierarchical Bayesian analysis. Even if such result strongly depends on the assumptions in the astrophysical modelling, it drives the attention to such regime. In Appendix A we show results for other values of f^E .

The number distribution in figure 1 shows all the merger events observed by the detector. As we will discuss in section 4, only some of these events enter our analysis, depending on the strategy we adopt to treat the poor sky localization for GW events. This does not change the effective bias, since we assume ABH and PBH are similarly affected. Thus, from figure 1 the goal of our analysis is already evident: if future GW surveys will be able to well constrain the mergers' effective bias, the existence of PBHs will be detected by looking at its flattening or decreasing at high z. Our goal is then to understand under which conditions this statistical analysis will have enough constraining power to reliably claim a PBH detection.

4 Analysis

Here we describe the setup of the analysis, whose results are collected in the next section. We initially rely on the phenomenological parameters $\{f^E, f^L\}$ to compute signal-to-noise ratio and Fisher forecasts. To cover the full parameter space, we consider the combination of 6 uniformly spaced values, namely [0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1]. For each pair of values, we set the condition $f^E + f^L \leq 1$ (i.e., we analyze 21 different models). We then convert our results into constraints on f_{PBH} for the EPBH and LPBH models generally adopted in the literature.

 $^{{}^{3}}$ ET-D considers an equilateral triangular design, with three 10km-long nested interferometers, each consisting of one instrument optimised for high frequencies and one for low frequencies.



Figure 1. Observed number distribution $d^2 N^{\text{GW}}/dz d\Omega$ (left, note that Ω is in std) and effective bias b(z) (right) of the ET2CE survey in the fiducial case $\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}} = 27 \,\text{Gpc}^{-3} \text{yr}^{-1}$, $f^E = 0.2$ and different f^L . We consider $N^{\text{GW}} = 1.1 \times 10^5$ each year and $T_{\text{obs}} = 10 \,\text{yr}$. Grey lines illustrate the cases in which only ABH (continuous), only EPBH (dotted) or only LPBH (dashed) are taken into account.

Finally, we perform a Bayesian model selection forecast to understand under which conditions future surveys will be able to discriminate between the only-ABH and ABH+PBH scenarios.

A small disclaimer before we start. The most natural radial coordinate to map GW surveys is the luminosity distance D_L , since it can be directly estimated from data, while the redshift is degenerate with the chirp mass. The observed D_L -space can be transformed into z-space once that the values of the cosmological parameters is set and the space distortions and general relativistic effects are properly accounted for in the two coordinate systems [9, 18, 33, 34, 92]. At the time ET and ET2CE will operate, cosmological parameters will be extremely well constrained with respect to the other quantities in our analysis; moreover, corrections between D_L -space and z-space contributions to the number counts angular power spectrum have been showed to be small. Given that the measurement of these quantities is not our goal, we can thus safely work in z-space by assuming large enough z-bins; under this assumption, the GW survey is somehow analogous to a photometric survey. Throughout the analysis, we fix the cosmological parameters to *Planck 2018* results [93].

Moreover, depending on parameters such as progenitor masses, sky position, orbit inclination, etc., future gravitational wave detectors will provide different luminosity distance and sky localization uncertainties $\{\Delta D_L/D_L, \Delta \Omega\}$ for each of the merger events they will observe. However, since here we are interested in the statistical properties of the overall distribution, we make general assumptions on the measurement uncertainties.

4.1 Setup

We characterize the GW survey by assuming that it observes a sky fraction $f_{\rm sky} = 1$ for a time $T_{\rm obs} = 10$ yr, up to the detector horizon $z_{\rm max} = 6$. To evaluate the statistical luminosity distance uncertainty $\Delta D_L/D_L$ and average sky localization uncertainty $\Delta \Omega$, we consider ET alone and ET2CE. The sky localization is related to the luminosity distance uncertainty; the analysis in [83] suggests an almost linear dependence between $\log_{10}(\Delta D_L/D_L) \in [-3, 1]$ and $\log_{10}(\Delta \Omega [\deg^2]) \in [-3, 4]$, with a ~ $\log_{10}[\mathcal{O}(10)]$ dispersion and a decreasing accuracy with increasing redshift. We can estimate that ~ 15% events with $z \leq 6$ will have uncertainties $\Delta D_L/D_L \lesssim 1$ and $\Delta \Omega \lesssim 100 \deg^2$ in the single ET case, while ~ 65% events with $z \leq 6$ will have $\Delta D_L/D_L \lesssim 1$ and $\Delta \Omega \lesssim 10 \text{ deg}^2$ for ET2CE. The total number of events used in the analysis is then $N^{\text{GW}\text{ obs}} = 1.20 \times 10^4/\text{yr}$ for single ET; $N^{\text{GW}\text{ obs}} = 7.15 \times 10^4/\text{yr}$ for ET2CE. For the purposes of our statistical analysis, we consider only these subsets of events, which we divide into $z_{i,j}$ bins, having amplitude larger than $\Delta D_L/D_L$ if converted to D_L -space.

Our estimator is the angular power spectrum $C_{\ell}(z_i, z_j)$, which we compute in 5 Gaussian tomographic bins, centered in $z_i \sim [0.4, 0.8, 1.4, 2.4, 4.3]$ with $\Delta z \simeq [0.4, 0.4, 0.6, 1.0, 1.9]$ and r.m.s. either equal to 1/2 or 1/4 of the width. The former case, more conservative, has a reduced constraining power due to the overlap between adjacent bins, which is accounted for in the computation of the covariance matrix (see next section and, e.g., [94]). The latter, instead, relies on a better redshift determination of the observed sources. Depending on the capability next generation GW detectors will reach in determining z, results will be somewhere in between these two cases.

To estimate the smallest scale accessible by the GW detector due to its lack of sky localization, we further assume to observe mergers in Gaussian beams of average size $\Delta \tilde{\Omega} = 50 \text{ deg}^2$ for the single ET configuration and $\Delta \tilde{\Omega} = 1 \text{ deg}^2$ for ET2CE, so to compensate between the constraining power of events with good and bad sensitivities.⁴ This allows us to treat the GW maps analogously to e.g., CMB and intensity mapping studies, and it implies the angular power spectrum gets smoothed by $\tilde{C}_{\ell}(z_i, z_j) = B_{\ell}^2 C_{\ell}(z^i, z^j)$, where

$$\tilde{B}_{\ell}(z_i, z_j) = \exp\left[-\frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2} \frac{\Delta \tilde{\Omega}_{\text{std}}}{8 \log(2)}\right],\tag{4.1}$$

with $\Delta \tilde{\Omega}_{std} = \Delta \tilde{\Omega}_{deg^2} (\pi/180)^2$. Appendix B recalls the main equations and shows C_{ℓ} , \tilde{C}_{ℓ} .

4.2 Cross-correlation with galaxy surveys

In this work, we also investigate cross-correlations between future GW and galaxy surveys (see e.g., [36]); to do that, we take as an example two mock surveys, modeled around the forthcoming wide area SPHEREx [43–45] and the proposed deep survey ATLAS Explorer [46–48]. We do this in order to explore different regimes and scenarios, trying to understand what is the ideal setup for this kind of analyses. A detailed investigation of the optimal galaxy survey strategy and experiment-specific forecasts are beyond the scope of this paper. Equations describing the cross-angular power spectrum $\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY}(z_i, z_j)$ can be found in appendix B. The surveys are characterized as follows.

• Wide survey, SPHEREx-like. We consider $f_{\rm sky}^w = 0.75$ and number density and bias from the $\sigma_z/(1+z) = 0.2$ sample,⁵ since the resolution is close to our GW survey. We then compute the source number distribution using bins with $\Delta z = 0.2$, as

$$\frac{d^2 N^w}{dz d\Omega} = \frac{3.26 \times 10^8}{4\pi\Delta z} \left(\frac{z}{0.301}\right)^{0.829} \exp\left[-\left(\frac{z}{0.301}\right)^{0.95}\right].$$
(4.2)

• Deep survey, ATLAS Explorer-*like*. We consider a configuration covering sky area $f_{\rm sky}^d = 0.2$, and we consider

$$\frac{d^2 N^d}{dz d\Omega} = \frac{3.26 \times 10^8}{A_{\rm std}^d \Delta z} \, 0.16 \exp(-0.25 \, z^2) \,, \quad b^d(z) = 0.84 \frac{D(z)}{D(z=0)} \,, \tag{4.3}$$

⁴The sky localization we consider for, e.g., ET2CE, are distributed between 10 deg^2 and very good (up to 10^{-3} deg^2) values. Thus, by adopting $\Delta \tilde{\Omega}$, we analyze optimistically the events with $1 \text{ deg}^2 \leq \Delta \Omega \leq 10 \text{ deg}^2$, while worsening the ones with $10^{-3} \text{ deg}^2 \leq \Delta \Omega \leq 10 \text{ deg}^2$. The smearing we introduce on the angular power spectrum further reduces the constraining power, making our final results conservative.

⁵https://github.com/SPHEREx/Public-products



Figure 2. Number of sources per solid angle and redshift bin (left panel) and biases (right panel) of galaxies observed by the wide survey (dashed), deep survey (dotted) and for ABH mergers observed by ET2CE (black), ET (gray, same bias). Markers show the mean redshift of the bins we adopted.

D(z) being the growth factor and $\Delta z = 0.2$ in this case as well. The sky area prevents us observing the largest scales; for this, we set the minimum multipole to $\ell_{\min}^d \sim 2\pi/\theta \sim 10$, where $\theta = \arccos \left[1 - A_{\text{std}}^d/2\pi\right]$.

We show the number density and bias of the galaxies observed in the wide and deep survey in figure 2, where we also compare them to the ABH cases observed by ET2CE and ET. Interestingly, the bias of ABH and of the galaxies observed by the wide survey are similar at low redshift, while at high redshift ($z \gtrsim 3$) they deviate from each other, with the galaxy bias being systematically higher than the ABH's host ones. This is due to the fact that at high redshift the wide survey will mainly observe the brightest galaxies, ultimately hosted by the more massive halos (differently happens for the deep survey, sensitive to fainter and smaller galaxies). GW mergers, instead, at first approximation can be observed irrespective from the properties of their host galaxy; therefore, they trace halos of different masses (see [88] for analysis on the relevance of the galaxy and host halo properties in the ABH clustering).

In the analysis we perform in the following section, we adopt the same z binning both for auto- and cross-spectra, meaning we are dividing the galaxy catalogs in the same bins as the GW events. When computing galaxy auto-spectra, we consider $\ell_{\text{max}} = \chi(z)k_{nl,0}$, where $k_{nl,0} = 0.12 \,\text{Mpc}^{-1}$. For cross-spectra with GW and GW auto-spectra, instead, the smoothing due to the GW sky localization uncertainty has to be accounted for, see eqs. (4.1) and (B.3).

5 Results

Our aim is to understand what confidence level will be reached by future surveys in detecting the presence of a primordial components in the GW catalogs. For both GW auto-spectra and GW×galaxy cross-spectra, we initially perform two different and complementary analyses. First of all, we compute the signal-to-noise Ratio (SNR) for the presence of PBH mergers in the GW catalogs. Then, we perform a Fisher analysis to constrain the marginalized errors on the mergers' bias. Both the analyses assume as fiducial the case where only ABHs are present. Finally, after converting our constraints to f_{PBH} , we use the Bayes factor formalism to forecast model selection between different scenarios.

5.1 Signal-to-Noise Ratio

The first statistical test we perform on our forecast is to understand whether, if PBH contribute to the mergers, the signal observed through the auto- (X = Y = GW) and cross- (X = GW, Y = galaxies or viceversa) spectra $\tilde{C}_{\ell,ij}^{XY[AP]} = \tilde{C}_{\ell}^{XY[AP]}(z_i, z_j)$ will be distinguishable from the theoretical assumption in which only ABH exists. This is done by computing:

$$\mathrm{SNR}^{2} = f_{\mathrm{sky}} \sum_{\ell} \left(\tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell} - \tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell}^{\mathrm{AP}} \right)^{T} \mathcal{M}_{\ell}^{-1} \left(\tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell} - \tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell}^{\mathrm{AP}} \right)$$
(5.1)

where we sum all the multipoles to estimate the signal-to-noise ratio of the survey. In the previous equation, we defined the vector containing the angular power spectra as

$$\tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell} = \left(\tilde{C}_{\ell,11}^{XX} \; \tilde{C}_{\ell,12}^{XX} \; \dots \; \tilde{C}_{\ell,N_{\mathrm{bin}}N_{\mathrm{bin}}}^{XX} \; \tilde{C}_{\ell,11}^{XY} \; \dots \; \tilde{C}_{\ell,N_{\mathrm{bin}}N_{\mathrm{bin}}}^{XY} \; \tilde{C}_{\ell,11}^{YY} \; \dots \; \tilde{C}_{\ell,N_{\mathrm{bin}}N_{\mathrm{bin}}}^{YY}, \right)$$
(5.2)

and analogously for the case $\tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell}^{\text{AP}}$ in which PBH are included. The elements of the covariance matrix \mathcal{M}_{ℓ} are defined as [36, 94–99]

$$\mathcal{M}_{\ell,IJ} = \frac{1}{2\ell+1} \left[\left(\tilde{C}_{\ell,ip}^{XX} + \frac{\delta_{ip}}{\bar{n}_{X,i}} \right) \left(\tilde{C}_{\ell,jq}^{YY} + \frac{\delta_{jq}}{\bar{n}_{Y,j}} \right) + \left(\tilde{C}_{\ell,iq}^{XY} + \frac{\delta_{iq}\delta_{XY}}{\bar{n}_{X,i}} \right) \left(\tilde{C}_{\ell,jp}^{XY} + \frac{\delta_{jp}\delta_{XY}}{\bar{n}_{X,j}} \right) \right]$$
(5.3)

where IJ = (X, ij)(Y, pq) are the indexes associated with the entries of the $\tilde{\mathbf{C}}_{\ell}$ vector, each of which refers to a specific source (X or Y) and to a specific pair of bins (ij or pq). Finally, $\bar{n}_{X,i}^{-1}$ is the shot noise of the X source in the *i*-th bin.

We compute the SNR as in eq. (5.1) to study the capability of our GW survey, both alone and in cross-correlation with galaxies, to detect the presence of PBH mergers in the observed catalog. As we show in appendix B, the bulk of the information comes from intermediate redshift $z \sim 2$, making our analysis complementary to the use of high redshift merger rate for PBH detection [40]. Figure 3 summarizes our results for ET2CE alone or in cross-correlation with galaxy surveys; the SNR values obtained, as well as results for ET, are in appendix C.

The cumulative signal we obtain by summing over ℓ - and z-bin pairs allows us to potentially detect the presence of PBH for some models. The first thing we note is that, given a certain value for $f^E + f^L$, the SNR changes depending on the relative abundance of EPBH and LPBH. When $f^E + f^L$ is low, having a larger number of EPBH leads to a higher SNR, while when $f^E + f^L$ is high, the SNR increases when the number of LPBH is larger. When $f^E + f^L \sim 0.8$, the SNR is almost constant independently from the relative abundance of EPBH and LPBH. This may seems surprising at first glance: since $b^L < b^E$, we would expect the same $f^E + f^L$ to have higher SNR with a larger number of LPBH. However, the effective bias we are using weighs each contribution by its merger rate: as it can be seen in figure 1, this is higher for EPBH, particularly at high redshift. The balance between these two effects is evident in figure 4: a large value of f^E produces a large enough deviation on the effective bias at high z to facilitate the detection when $f^E + f^L$ is small, while a large value of f^L requires an overall higher number of PBH to be effective.

In the case of only ET2CE, our results show that at least a 2σ detection could be claimed when PBH binaries constitute more than ~ 60%-80% of the observed number of events in the GW catalog, in the case of non-overlapping bins. As appendix C shows, using a single ET instead leads to no constraining power in the single tracer case, because of the lack of small scales. When including cross-correlations with galaxy catalogs, the SNR gets larger even with



Figure 3. SNR measured using overlapping (left) and non-overlapping (right) bins for the different $\{f^E, f^L\}$ cases, for ET2CE alone and in cross-correlation with a wide and deep survey. The horizontal lines indicates $(1, 2, 3)\sigma$ detection.

a smaller amount of PBH binaries in the catalog and we get to $2 - 3\sigma$ whenever PBH $\geq 40\%$. Cross-correlations between ET and galaxy surveys instead reach 1σ detection only when the number of PBH is very large ($f^E + f^L \gtrsim 80\%$, see appendix C).

When overlapping redshift bins are used, all results degrade by a factor of almost two on average, meaning that similar PBH abundances lead to $1-2\sigma$ detection in the case of ET2CE. Cross-correlations still allow a 3σ detection when $f^E + f^L \ge 60\%$, reaching $\sim 2\sigma$ for $f^E + f^L \sim 40\%$ instead.

As we will confirm with the Fisher matrix analysis in section 5.2, even if both the galaxy surveys lead to an improvement in the capability of distinguish the effective bias from the only-ABH bias, a wide survey allows to better measure the bias. On the other hand, even if both the surveys probe high redshifts, the deep survey observes a larger number of sources at z > 2 (compare with figure 2) and its cross-power spectra have lower shot noise in the



Figure 4. ABH bias with 50% prior (gray) compared with the effective bias when $f^E + f^L = 0.4$ (left), 0.8 (middle) or 1 (right) with different relative abundances of EPBH and LPBH. When $f^E + f^L$ is small, a larger number of EPBH ease the detection because of the deviation at high z.

last bin $(z \in [2.4, 6.2])$. For the wide survey, the larger f_{sky} allows us to access larger ℓs , which explains its larger SNR. Even if the SNR for the cross-correlation with the wide survey is 50%-100% times larger than the deep one, the two analyses present a similar trend with respect to the relative abundances of EPBHs and LPBHs. This is because we use only 5 redshift bins and the analysis can not capture the details in the redshift evolution of the source number distribution or bias. Even when the PBH contribution to the mergers can be detected, the relative EPBH and LPBH abundances remain unconstrained with this method.

5.2 Bias forecasts

The analysis studied in the previous section does not take into account degeneracies between parameters that influence the amplitude of the angular power spectra. To strengthen the reliability of our results, we study forecasts constraining power of the different surveys in measuring the effective GW bias parameters. We perform a Fisher matrix analysis

$$F_{\alpha\beta} = f_{\rm sky} \sum_{\ell} \frac{2\ell + 1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(\mathcal{C}_{\ell})^{-1} \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{\ell} (\mathcal{C}_{\ell})^{-1} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{C}_{\ell} \right],$$
(5.4)

with respect to the parameters $\theta_{\alpha,\beta} = \{b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4, b_5\}$, each of which represents the effective bias inside one of the redshift bins. Their fiducial values equal the ABH bias from eq. (3.2) in the central point of the bins. The covariance matrix C_{ℓ} (and analogously the derivative matrix $\partial_{\alpha}C_{\ell}$) for the GW survey alone is built as

$$\mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{C}_{\ell,11}^{\text{GWGW}} + \bar{n}_{\text{GW},1}^{-1} & \dots & \tilde{C}_{\ell,0N_{\text{bin}}}^{\text{GWGW}} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \tilde{C}_{\ell,N_{\text{bin}}1}^{\text{GWGW}} & \dots & \tilde{C}_{\ell,N_{\text{bin}}N_{\text{bin}}}^{\text{GWGW}} + \bar{n}_{\text{GW},N_{\text{bin}}}^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.5)

being $N_{\rm bin} = 5$ the overall number of bins used and $\bar{n}_{\rm GW,i}^{-1}$ the shot noise in the *i*-th bin. In the multi-tracer scenario instead, the computation of the Fisher matrix requires to update eq. (5.4) by using the block-matrix covariance

$$\mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{\text{cross}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gg}} & \mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{\text{gGW}} \\ \mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWg}} & \mathcal{C}_{\ell}^{\text{GWGW}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.6)

and the derivative matrix defined analogously. Moreover, in the multi-tracer case the parameter set used to compute the Fisher matrix also includes the galaxy bias parameters $\{b_{g,1}, b_{g,2}, b_{g,3}, b_{g,4}, b_{g,5}\}$, which we marginalize before getting our final results on the GW biases. Note that in the previous section the constraints were intergrated over z to obtain the overall SNR, while here we separate the information to constrain the bias in different bins.

Table 1 shows the relative marginalized errors on the bias parameters σ_{b_i} , both when considering only the GW survey and when including the cross-correlation with galaxies (see appendix C for results on ET). Once again, the fiducial for the bias parameters is set to the case where only ABH contributes to the signal. Our main results assume an uninformative prior on both the merger and galaxy bias; we also consider the possibility of a 50% Gaussian prior on the ABH bias based on the results in [88]. For the cross-correlation analysis, we separately run the Fisher forecast on the only-galaxy surveys, so to estimate their (optimistic) constraining power on the galaxy bias. We checked that using these results as priors for the multi tracer analysis the results do not largely improve, confirming the stability of our analysis.

		Over	rlappin	g bins		Non-overlapping bins					
	b_1	b_2	b_3	b_4	b_5	b_1	b_2	b_3	b_4	b_5	
ET2CE	85%	37%	25%	31%	115%	40%	19%	13%	19%	87%	
ET2CE, b_i^p prior	43%	30%	22%	26%	46%	31%	18%	13%	17%	43%	
×Wide survey	12%	7%	6%	13%	74%	9%	5%	4%	8%	95%	
×Deep survey	24%	13%	10%	12%	50%	17%	9%	7%	9%	46%	

Table 1. Marginalized 1σ relative errors on ABH bias parameters for the GW survey and the cross-correlation with the different galaxy surveys we take into account.

Figure 5 shows predicted errors on the ABH bias for ET2CE in our fiducial case $f^E = 0.2$ (see appendix C for the other cases and for ET alone). Coherently with results in the previous section, for non-overlapping bins the observed PBH-induced effective bias can be distinguished from the ABH bias when $f^E + f^L \gtrsim 0.6 - 0.8$ with GWs only, $\gtrsim 0.4$ with galaxy cross-correlations (i.e., ~ 60% - 80% and 40% of the observed mergers are due to primordial black holes), while not being very sensitive to EPBH and LPBH relative abundances. Marginal errors computed using overlapping bins are ~ 1.5 - 2 times larger than non-overlapping cases.

Because of the redshift evolution of ABH number density in eq. (3.1), the shot noise allows us to have better constraints on ABH bias at intermediate-high redshifts, namely between $z \sim 1$ and ~ 3 (consistent with the previous section). This is therefore the range in which our technique is more sensitive to deviations due to PBH contributions and makes our analysis complementary to the use of high z merger detections to test the PBH existence [40]. Moreover, since measurements at higher z are more challenging, intermediate redshift probes can be seen as more reliable. In the case of bias measurements, a strong improvement at high z can be obtained via cross-correlation with the deep survey, thanks to the large number of sources this instrument measures at z > 3, as figure 2 shows. On the other side, crosscorrelations with the wide survey are more effective to improve constraints at $z \leq 3$.

Since f^E and f^L are almost degenerate in our analysis, we can describe the effective bias b(z) for each value of $f^E + f^L$ using the mean $\bar{b}(z)$ and the standard deviation of the values it assumes in the different $\{f^E, f^L\}$ cases. To visualize the final results of our Fisher analysis, therefore, in figure 6 we compare $\bar{b}(z)/b^A(z)$ for each value of $f^E + f^L$ with the 1σ confidence level of the fiducial only-ABH scenario. The setup we adopted maximizes the sensitivity to



Figure 5. Predicted 1σ marginalized errors on ABH bias parameters with ET2CE and in crosscorrelation with galaxy surveys, using overlapping (left) and non-overlapping (right) bins. Errorbars are compared with the effective bias for the models with $f^E = 0.2$.

deviations from the only-ABH scenario in the intermediate redshift bins, where the ABH shot noise is smaller. When only ET2CE is adopted, the effective bias deviates ~ 1σ from the ABH bias when $f^E + f^L \gtrsim 0.8$, namely when PBH mergers constitute at least 80% of the totality. Cross-correlations with galaxies provide deviation from only-ABH for $f^E + f^L \gtrsim 0.4$, namely when at least 40% of the overall merger events observed have primordial origin.

5.3 Constraints on f_{PBH}

In the previous sections we showed that GW clustering can be a tool to constrain the existence of PBHs. We parameterized EPBH, LPBH contributions to future GW catalogs with as few model assumptions as possible (maintaining robustness). From the cosmological point of view,



Figure 6. Mean value of the effective merger bias for each $f^E + f^L$ case; lighter lines show different $\{f^E, f^L\}$ combinations, using overlapping (top) and non-overlapping (bottom) bins. Colored areas represent 1σ confidence intervals obtained through our Fisher analysis for ET2CE, and the cross-correlations with galaxies. Future surveys will be sensitive to PBH abundances providing effective bias values that fall outside the colored areas.

the quantity of interest is the parameter f_{PBH} , introduced in eq. (2.1). This describes how much dark matter is comprised of PBHs, either bounded in binaries or isolated. To convert the results from sections 5.1, 5.2 into constraints on f_{PBH} , we need to assume a specific model for early and late binary formation, provided the uncertainties that still exist in the literature.

The goal of this section is to relate the local merger rates $\mathcal{R}_0^{E,L} = f^{E,L} \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}$ to f_{PBH} . We recall that in this work we consider black holes with masses $M_{\text{PBH}} \sim 5 - 100 M_{\odot}$, which will be observed by ET and CE [100]. For early binaries, we follow [78] and roughly estimate the local merger rate for a monochromatic PBH mass function as

$$\mathcal{R}_{0}^{E} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{f_{\text{PBH}}}{0.85} \frac{\rho_{m}}{M_{\text{PBH}}} \frac{dP}{dt} \Big|_{t_{0}}$$

$$\simeq 5.10 \times 10^{5} \,\text{Gpc}^{-3} \text{yr}^{-1} \left(\frac{f_{\text{PBH}}}{0.85}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{M_{\text{PBH}}}{30 \, M_{\odot}}\right)^{-32/37} \left[\left(\frac{f_{\text{PBH}}}{0.85}\right)^{2} + \sigma_{\text{eq}}^{2} \right]^{-21/74}, \quad (5.7)$$

where ρ_m is the matter density at present time t_0 and dP/dt the probability distribution of the time of merger, which can be computed as a function of M_{PBH} , f_{PBH} and the variance of DM density perturbations due to non-PBH components at matter-radiation equality, $\sigma_{\text{eq}} \sim 0.005$. In our work, $\mathcal{R}_0^E = f^E \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}$, therefore we can numerically solve the previous equation to get $f_{(\text{PBH}|\text{E})}$, namely the overall DM fraction in the form of EPBH. For late binaries, instead, we adopt the formalism in [7], which provides

$$\mathcal{R}_{0}^{L} = (f_{\text{PBH}})^{53/21} \int dM_{h} \frac{dn}{dM_{h}} \mathcal{R}_{h}(M_{h})$$

$$\simeq \mathcal{R}_{0}^{\text{tot}} (f_{\text{PBH}})^{53/21} \left(\frac{M_{h}}{400 M_{\odot}}\right)^{-11/21} ,$$
(5.8)

where $\mathcal{R}_h(M_h)$ is the merger rate in an halo of mass M_h and dn/dM_h the halo mass function. The mass dependence is negligible and we normalize the result to the merger rate observed by the detector. Using $\mathcal{R}_0^L = f^L \mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}}$, we invert the equation to get $f_{(\text{PBH}|L)} = (f^L)^{21/53}$.

Clearly, the constraints on f_{PBH} obtained through this procedure will be model dependent; in particular, for late binaries they will be affected by assumptions on the host halo properties, while uncertainties for early binaries arise from effects that could alter the binary formation process and merger time (primordial non-Gaussianity [101–103], non-linearities [74, 104], nearest and next-to-nearest neighbor interactions [105, 106], etc.). Since model uncertainties are larger for early binary scenarios, we collect all the uncertainties in the parameter $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{R}_0^E / \mathcal{R}_0^{E,nom}$ where $\mathcal{R}_0^{E,nom}$ is computed via eq. (5.7) in the nominal scenario, i.e., relying on assumptions in [78]. Constraints on f_{PBH} are then computed as a function of \mathcal{U} , which can be seen as the early mergers' reduction factor due to, e.g., third-body interactions, or any other effect that could disrupt early binaries or delay mergers. It is important to note that different effects that could impact the EPBH merger rate may become relevant in different parts of the parameter space. For example, there are indications that the nearest and next-to nearest neighbor interactions reduce the merger rate more for larger values of f_{PBH} , so that the final merger rate corrections could be a mix of different values of \mathcal{U} .

From eqs. (5.7) and (5.8), choosing a value for f_{PBH} sets both $\{f^E, f^L\}$ and determines the observed local merger rate. We are interested in values comparable with LVK constraints, namely $\mathcal{R}_0^{E,L} \in [0.01, 100] \,\text{Gpc}^{-3} \text{yr}^{-1}$: as figure 7 shows, this implies that in the *nominal* case we would be probing values of f_{PBH} of the order of $\sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-4})$ for EPBH, since larger values of f_{PBH} in the *nominal* scenario would lead to values of \mathcal{R}_0^E that are too large to be accepted. In this range, the number of LPBH is negligible. When \mathcal{U} decreases (i.e., the EPBH merger rate is smaller than what [78] estimates), larger values of f_{PBH} can be taken into account; when $\mathcal{U} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-7})$, EPBH contributions to the overall number of merger events can be neglected.



Figure 7. Local merger rate for EPBH for different values of the merger reduction factor \mathcal{U} . We here consider $M_{\text{PBH}} = 30 M_{\odot}$.

To cover all the parameter space, we consider the cases $\mathcal{U} = \{1, 10^{-3}, 10^{-5}, 10^{-7}\}$ and we convert constraints (with non-overlapping bins) from section 5.2 into constraints for f_{PBH} . We showed in section 5.1 and 5.2 that the effective bias can be distinguished from the ABHonly case if $f^E + f^L \gtrsim 0.6$ for ET2CE and $\gtrsim 0.4$ when cross-correlating with galaxy surveys. When $\mathcal{U} = 1$, this implies that LPBH are negligible and our technique can detect (or rule out) $f^E \simeq 0.4 - 0.6$, which corresponds to $f_{\text{PBH}} \simeq 1 \times 10^{-3}$; when $\mathcal{U} = 10^{-7}$, $f^E \sim 0$ instead and constraints on f^L can be used to constrain $f_{\rm PBH} \sim 0.7 - 0.8$. Figure 8 summarizes our results, for ET2CE alone and in cross correlation with galaxy surveys. Our constraints are compared to current, tentative constraints coming from microlensing [107-109], accretion contributions to Galactic radio and X-ray emissions [110], CMB spectral distortions [78, 111], 21cm signal [112]; dynamical constraints from dwarf galaxies [113, 114], wide binaries [115]; NANOGRAV [116]; supernova lensing [117], Lyman- α [118], and LIGO GW data [119–121]. Other techniques have been used to forecast PBH constraints in a variety of mass ranges: e.g., [122] considers the combination of CMB distortions and the pulsar timing array measurements, [41] studies how the merger rate changes depending on the early and late abundances and gravity and dark energy models, while in [40] the high redshift merger rate is considered. Note that all these constraints are model-dependent as well; the ones based on GW measurements from binary mergers, in particular, share the same uncertainties our model has on EPBH and LPBH formation processes.

In our nominal case, the clustering technique we perform is competitive with constraints currently available. Our analysis provides a complementary constraint to the one obtained from merger detections at high redshift [40]. Both techniques suffer of some limitations: to constrain PBHs via clustering measurements we need a large number of events with a good sky localization, while the use of the merger rate will require to observe events at high redshifts with a small distance uncertainty. A clear detection is challenging in both cases; for this reason, using both approaches will be fundamental in order to obtain solid limits or detections. Moreover, as stressed above, the conversion from observed (that being low-bias or high-z) primordial mergers to f_{PBH} is model dependent and subject to several assumptions and uncertainties, making it even more useful to use both techniques on the same catalog.

5.4 Model selection

As a final remark for our work, we perform a Bayesian model selection forecast on the capability future GW surveys will have to distinguish scenarios with and without PBHs. It is well known that a Bayesian analysis of this kind is based on the prior choice for the underlying model; therefore, results of this section have to rely on one specific choice for the models described in the previous section. We rely on the *nominal* case $\mathcal{U} = 1$, i.e., we assume the models in [78] and [7] to be the correct ones for early and late binaries respectively, thus we can safely set $f^L \sim 0$. The same analysis can be repeated for other early merger models.

In our Bayesian model selection forecast, we compare the following two models:

- ABH-only model (A): In the GW survey there are only ABH mergers. The parameter set that characterizes this model is $\theta = \{A\}$, which describes the redshift evolution of the ABH bias (see eq. (3.2)). We will also refer to this case as the "simple model".
- ABH-PBH model (AP): The GW survey contains both mergers from ABH and PBH early binaries. The parameter set to take into account is now $\theta = \{A, f^E\}$. We will refer to this as the "complex model".



Figure 8. Constraints on f_{PBH} from our clustering technique for ET2CE alone (thick, continuous teal lines) or in cross-correlation with galaxy surveys (thick, teal dashed lines) for $\mathcal{U} = 1$ (top left), 10^{-3} (top right), 10^{-5} (bottom left) and 10^{-7} (bottom right). In the first three cases we consider $f^L \sim 0$, while in the latter we adopt $f^E \sim 0$. All cases are computed with non-overlapping bins. We compare our results with current constraints from other observables (blue, see main text for details).

Since this is a nested model scenario, we can apply the model selection forecasting procedure described in [123]. In this approach, we work in Laplace approximation i.e., we assume that the expected likelihoods are multivariate Gaussians. Moreover, we model the precision matrices using the Fisher matrices F_A , F_{AP} .⁶ This leads to the following expression for the ensemble average of the Bayes factor, in the assumption that the likelihoods are narrowly peaked around the fiducial values:

$$\left\langle B \right\rangle = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{(n_{AP} - n_A)/2}} \frac{\sqrt{\det F_{AP}}}{\sqrt{\det F_A}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\delta\theta_2^{\alpha}F_{AP,\alpha\beta}\,\delta\theta_2^{\beta}\right] \prod_{q=1}^{n_{AP} - n_A} \Delta\theta_{AP}^{n_{AP} - n_A + q} \,. \tag{5.9}$$

In the previous formula, n_{AP} is the number of parameters in the *complex* model whereas n_A is the number of parameters in the *simple* model. Therefore, $n_{AP} - n_A$ is the number of extra-parameters in the *complex* scenarios, while $\Delta \theta_{AP}^{n_A+1,\dots,n_{AP}}$ are their prior ranges.

Note that, in the ABH-PBH model, the shot noise will include PBH contributions, thus depending on the parameter f^E . If we consider the ABH-only model, the associated Fisher matrix is just the submatrix of F_{AP} , obtained by fixing the extra parameter to $f^E = 0$;

⁶Note that F_A, F_{AP} in this section differ from the Fisher analysis in the previous section, because of the different parameter choice. Results can be transformed through change of coordinates.

in other words, we are conditioning the value of f^E in the multivariate Gaussian likelihood describing the *ABH-PBH* model, in order to reproduce the *simple ABH-only* scenario. This conditioning procedure also leads to shifts in the best-fitting values of all other parameters, according to the following formula (see [123] for a detailed explanation)

$$\delta\theta^{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \theta^{\alpha}_{A} - \bar{\theta}^{\alpha}_{AP} & \text{if } \alpha > n_{A} \text{ (i.e., extra-parameters)} \\ -(F_{A}^{-1})^{\alpha\gamma} G^{\gamma\zeta} \delta\theta^{\zeta}_{AP} & \text{if } \alpha < n_{A} \text{ (i.e., common parameters)} \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

In the above, $G^{\gamma\zeta}$ is the $n_A \times (n_{AP} - n_A)$ subset of F_{AP} , obtained by considering the $\gamma = 1, ..., n_A$ rows related to the common parameters and the $\zeta = n_A + ... (n_{AP} - n_A)$ columns related to the extra parameters in the *complex* model.

To sum up, in our case:

- In the ABH-PBH model, we have $n_{AP} = 2$ parameters, namely $\{A, f^E\}$. Since f^E spans from 0 to 1 depending on the specific model adopted, we can safely assume a uniform prior on the extra parameter $\Delta \theta_{AP}^{extra} = \Delta f^E = 1$.
- In the ABH-only model we have $n_A = 1$ parameter, namely the slope of the ABH bias A. The extra-parameter f^E is set to 0 to recover this model. In this case, the Fisher matrix collapses to a single element, namely $F_A = f_{\rm sky} \sum_{\ell} (2\ell + 1) [(\tilde{C}_{\ell})^{-1} \partial_A \tilde{C}_{\ell} (\tilde{C}_{\ell})^{-1} \partial_A \tilde{C}_{\ell}]/2$, where the power spectra are computed in the ABH-only condition.

Under these conditions, we apply eq. (5.10) to compute the shifts in the fiducial parameters and then we insert them in eq. (5.9) to estimate the Bayes factor.

In the multi tracer case, the only difference is that we build up the Fisher matrix considering the galaxy-galaxy and cross-spectra as well; note that the galaxy power spectra are independent on both the A and f^E parameters, therefore the only extra signal we gain comes from cross-correlations. On the other side, adding the galaxy bias parameters b_g to the analysis can introduce extra degeneracies, for which the Laplace approximation cannot be trusted: this happens e.g., when considering ET alone, even in correlation with galaxy surveys. Moreover, the cases $f^E = \{0, 1\}$ can not be analysed with this method since they present singular Fisher matrices: in the former case, f^E can not be constrained since there are no PBH in the computation ($\partial_{f^E} \tilde{C}_{\ell} = 0$ in F_{AP} and the complex model collapses on the simple one), while in the latter the same happens with A since there are no ABH ($F_{AP}^{AA} = 0$).

Figure 9 shows our Bayes factor results in terms of f^E , compared with the Jeffrey's values for detection [124] as described by [123]:

- $-1 \leq \langle \ln B \rangle < 1$: inconclusive test;
- $-2.5 \leq \langle \ln B \rangle < -1$: substantial evidence for *complex* model AP (~ 1 σ detection);
- $-5 \leq \langle \ln B \rangle < -2.5$: strong evidence for *complex* model AP (~ 2σ detection);
- $\langle \ln B \rangle < -5$: decisive evidence for *complex* model AP (~ 3σ detection).

We only show results for ET2CE and its cross-correlations with the wide and deep surveys, since the cases related with a single ET have large shot noise and break the Laplace approximation: this is consistent with the large uncertainties obtained from the Fisher matrix analysis. Our results for the Bayes factor are consistent with the ones in the previous sections (for non-overlapping bins): evidence for the *ABH-PBH* model is reached when $f^E \gtrsim 40\%$ of the mergers observed by future GW detectors, when the cross-correlation with galaxies is taken into account. Above this value, we obtain a strong or decisive evidence, namely a $\gtrsim 2\sigma$ detection of early PBH binary contribution to the effective bias. Using eq. (5.7), this translates into evidence for $f_{\rm PBH} \gtrsim 9 \times 10^{-4}$ for monochromatic PBH mass distribution $M_{\rm PBH} \sim 30 M_{\odot}$.



Figure 9. Bayes factor $\langle \ln B \rangle$ depending on f^E using non-overlapping redshift bins. We account for auto- and cross-correlations of ET2CE with galaxy surveys. The horizontal lines show the Jefferey's values for evidence in favor of the *complex ABH-PBH* model.

6 Conclusions

The physics acting during the early stages of the Universe is still largely unknown; in particular, there are no constraints on the primordial power spectrum on scales smaller than what is probed by the CMB. Regarding the physics relevant for this work, this leaves the window open to the possible existence of large curvature perturbations, which might be responsible for the formation of primordial black holes. Independently on their formation model, if PBHs exist, they could be (or become) bound in binaries and eventually merge, producing gravitational waves. If their masses are comparable to black holes produced via stellar evolution, namely $\mathcal{O}(5-100) M_{\odot}$, the GW signals produced by their mergers would be in principle indistinguishable from the signal produced by astrophysical binary mergers.

Among the probes to distinguish between different BBH origin, in this work we chose to focus on the study of the clustering of BBHs mergers, making predictions for future GW surveys. Previous studies already demonstrated the capability of this tool, which comes from the fact that PBH and ABH binaries trace the underlying matter distribution differently. Gravitational wave surveys are blind to the origin of the mergers' progenitors, thus the angular power spectrum estimated from their catalogs will be characterized by an effective bias due to the weighted average contribution of ABHs and PBHs. If the latter can be formed both in radiation dominated era and via dynamical captures in the late Universe, the relative abundances of the two sub-populations is needed to determine the deviation of the effective bias from the standard bias of astrophysical mergers.

In this paper, we investigated for the first time the possibility to use GW clustering alone to search for signatures of PBH mergers in catalogs that should be observed by future experiments such as the Einstein Telescope and Cosmic Explorer, alone or in combination. The measured effective bias of the mergers' hosts will be sensitive to the presence of a primordial component, in ways that depend on the formation channel of primordial binaries. Our results showed that interferometers of this type could detect (or rule out) the presence of primordial mergers if those make up at least 60%-80% of the detected mergers, when sources are divided into non-overlapping redshift bins. We then used updated limits on merger rates for the different BBH populations to produce new limits from the cross-correlation between GW and galaxy catalogs, investigating wide and deep future surveys. We found that the fraction of primordial mergers these cross-correlations could be sensitive to lowers to ~ 40%. A poor redshift determination leads to overlapping redshift bins, with a consequent degradation of our results of about a factor of two.

For the first time in this type of analyses, we connected constraints on the fraction of primordial mergers in the observed catalogs to the fraction of dark matter in PBHs. This connection is model-dependent, as the predicted merger rate for early PBH mergers is still very uncertain and depends on a variety of parameters and assumptions. For this reason, we computed our constraints as a function of a fudge factor that encapsulates such uncertainties, allowing the merger rate of early PBH mergers to vary by several orders of magnitude. We found that, due to the large uncertainty in the modeling of early PBH mergers, constraints on $f_{\rm PBH}$ from this observable could range from some 10^{-4} to ~ 85% of dark matter in PBHs. Clearly, this methodology could become potentially one of the best ones to constrain PBH abundance in the LVK mass range, provided the physics of early binary formation and mergers gets clarified in future work, possibly using simulations accounting for a variety of effects.

Finally, we performed a new type of analysis for the GW clustering observable, in the form of a forecast Bayesian model selection technique aimed at understanding in what cases we could be able to claim evidence for the presence of PBH mergers in the catalogs. The analysis compared the model in which a parameter accounting for the PBH presence in the effective bias model is included, from the one in which only ABH are taken into account. GW clustering alone can reach substantial evidence, and most likely go beyond that in the case when the vast majority of detected mergers is of primordial origin. When looking at cross-correlations with galaxy catalogs, strong and even decisive evidence can be reached for certain values of PBH mergers. Results from all methodologies are consistent with each other.

In parallel to the development of this work, another article investigated the potential of the cross-correlation between gravitational waves from binary black hole mergers and galaxy maps, in order to constrain modified gravity and dark energy models, and withing those theories, PBH abundance [41]. In that work, the authors focus on slightly different situations and use GW catalogs specifically generated; in the limits where the two analyses can overlap and be compared, the results agree and present a complementary point of view.

The bulk of constraining power for these clustering analyses comes from intermediate redshifts $z \sim [1, 2.5]$, showing that our tool is complementary to other tests based on high-z merger rate. Given the relevance of the topic and the numerous uncertainties arising when trying to rule out (or detect) PBHs in the stellar mass range, we advocate for a combination of different techniques and observables, which could potentially provide robust results.

Acknowledgements

We especially thank Nicola Bellomo, Michele Bosi and Andrea Ravenni for insightful comments on the manuscript. The authors also thank José L. Bernal, Ely D. Kovetz, Sabino Matarrese, Caner Ünal, Lorenzo Valbusa Dall'Armi, Eleonora Vanzan, Yun Wang and the Padova Cosmology group for interesting and fruitful discussions. SL acknowledges funds from the Fondazione Ing. Aldo Gini scholarship and thanks the Azrieli Foundation for the support. We acknowledge support by the project "Combining Cosmic Microwave Background and Large Scale Structure data: an Integrated Approach for Addressing Fundamental Questions in Cosmology", funded by the MIUR Progetti di Ricerca di Rilevante Interesse Nazionale (PRIN) Bando 2017 - grant 2017YJYZAH. AR acknowledges funding from the Italian Ministry of University and Research (MIUR) through the "Dipartimenti di eccellenza" project "Science of the Universe". We acknowledge the use of the public library https://zenodo.org/record/3538999 to realize the plots in figure 8.

Bibliography

- B.P. Abbott et al. Binary black hole mergers in the first advanced ligo observing run. *Physical Review X*, 6(4), Oct 2016. ISSN 2160-3308. doi: 10.1103/physrevx.6.041015.
- [2] B.P. Abbott et al. Gwtc-1: A gravitational-wave transient catalog of compact binary mergers observed by ligo and virgo during the first and second observing runs. *Physical Review X*, 9(3), Sep 2019. ISSN 2160-3308. doi: 10.1103/physrevx.9.031040.
- [3] LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration. Gwtc-2: Compact binary coalescences observed by ligo and virgo during the first half of the third observing run. *Phys. Rev. X*, 11: 021053, Jun 2021. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevX.11.021053.
- [4] The LIGO Scientific Collaboration and the Virgo Collaboration. Gwtc-2.1: Deep extended catalog of compact binary coalescences observed by ligo and virgo during the first half of the third observing run, 2021.
- [5] R. Abbott et al. Population of Merging Compact Binaries Inferred Using Gravitational Waves through GWTC-3. *Phys. Rev. X*, 13(1):011048, 2023. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevX.13.011048.
- [6] Toshiya Namikawa, Atsushi Nishizawa, and Atsushi Taruya. Anisotropies of gravitational-wave standard sirens as a new cosmological probe without redshift information. *Physical Review Letters*, 116(12), Mar 2016. ISSN 1079-7114. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.116.121302. URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.121302.
- [7] Simeon Bird, Ilias Cholis, Julian B. Muñoz, Yacine Ali-Haïmoud, Marc Kamionkowski, Ely D. Kovetz, Alvise Raccanelli, and Adam G. Riess. Did ligo detect dark matter? *Physical Review Letters*, 116(20), May 2016. ISSN 1079-7114. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.116.201301. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.201301.
- [8] Alvise Raccanelli. Gravitational wave astronomy with radio galaxy surveys. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, Apr 2017. ISSN 1365-2966. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stx835. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stx835.
- S. Libanore, M. C. Artale, D. Karagiannis, M. Liguori, N. Bartolo, Y. Bouffanais, N. Giacobbo, M. Mapelli, and S. Matarrese. Gravitational wave mergers as tracers of large scale structures. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2021(02):035–035, Feb 2021. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2021/02/035. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2021/ 02/035.

- [10] Cristina Cigarran Diaz and Suvodip Mukherjee. Mapping the cosmic expansion history from LIGO-Virgo-KAGRA in synergy with DESI and SPHEREx. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., 511 (2):2782–2795, 2022. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stac208.
- M. Punturo et al. The einstein telescope: a third-generation gravitational wave observatory. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 27(19):194002, sep 2010. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/27/19/ 194002. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/27/19/194002.
- [12] B. Sathyaprakash, M. Abernathy, F. Acernese, P. Ajith, B. Allen, P. Amaro-Seoane, N. Andersson, S. Aoudia, K. Arun, P. Astone, and et al. Scientific objectives of einstein telescope. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 29(12):124013, 6 2012. ISSN 1361-6382. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/29/12/124013. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/29/12/124013.
- [13] Michele Maggiore, Chris Van Den Broeck, Nicola Bartolo, Enis Belgacem, Daniele Bertacca, Marie Anne Bizouard, Marica Branchesi, Sebastien Clesse, Stefano Foffa, Juan García-Bellido, and et al. Science case for the einstein telescope. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2020(03):050–050, Mar 2020. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/03/050. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2020/03/050.
- [14] Matthew Evans, Rana X Adhikari, Chaitanya Afle, Stefan W. Ballmer, Sylvia Biscoveanu, Ssohrab Borhanian, Duncan A. Brown, Yanbei Chen, Robert Eisenstein, Alexandra Gruson, Anuradha Gupta, Evan D. Hall, Rachael Huxford, Brittany Kamai, Rahul Kashyap, Jeff S. Kissel, Kevin Kuns, Philippe Landry, Amber Lenon, Geoffrey Lovelace, Lee McCuller, Ken K. Y. Ng, Alexander H. Nitz, Jocelyn Read, B. S. Sathyaprakash, David H. Shoemaker, Bram J. J. Slagmolen, Joshua R. Smith, Varun Srivastava, Ling Sun, Salvatore Vitale, and Rainer Weiss. A horizon study for cosmic explorer: Science, observatories, and community, 2021.
- [15] Enrico Barausse, Emanuele Berti, Thomas Hertog, Scott A. Hughes, Philippe Jetzer, Paolo Pani, Thomas P. Sotiriou, Nicola Tamanini, Helvi Witek, Kent Yagi, and et al. Prospects for fundamental physics with lisa. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 52(8), Aug 2020. ISSN 1572-9532. doi: 10.1007/s10714-020-02691-1. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s10714-020-02691-1.
- [16] S. Clesse, J. Garcia-Bellido, V. Bagui, E. De Luca, G. Franciolini, C. Joana, K. Jain, S. Kuroyanagi, I. Musco, T. Papanikolaou, M. Peloso, A. Raccanelli, S. Renaux-Petel, A. Riotto, E. R. Morales, M. Scalisi, O. Sergijenko, O. Unal, V. Vennin, and D. Wands. Primordial black holes and their gravitational-wave signatures.
- [17] Seiji Kawamura et al. Current status of space gravitational wave antenna DECIGO and B-DECIGO. PTEP, 2021(5):05A105, 2021. doi: 10.1093/ptep/ptab019.
- [18] S. Libanore, M.C. Artale, D. Karagiannis, M. Liguori, N. Bartolo, Y. Bouffanais, M. Mapelli, and S. Matarrese. Clustering of gravitational wave and supernovae events: a multitracer analysis in luminosity distance space. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2022(02):003, feb 2022. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2022/02/003. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/ 2022/02/003.
- [19] Giulio Scelfo, Nicola Bellomo, Alvise Raccanelli, Sabino Matarrese, and Licia Verde. Gw×lss: chasing the progenitors of merging binary black holes. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2018(09):039–039, Sep 2018. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2018/09/039. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2018/09/039.
- [20] Giulio Scelfo, Marta Spinelli, Alvise Raccanelli, Lumen Boco, Andrea Lapi, and Matteo Viel. Gravitational waves × HI intensity mapping: cosmological and astrophysical applications. JCAP, 01(01):004, 2022. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2022/01/004.
- [21] Enis Belgacem, Gianluca Calcagni, Marco Crisostomi, Charles Dalang, Yves Dirian, Jose María Ezquiaga, Matteo Fasiello, Stefano Foffa, Alexander Ganz, Juan García-Bellido, and et al. Testing modified gravity at cosmological distances with lisa standard sirens. Journal of Cos-

mology and Astroparticle Physics, 2019(07):024–024, Jul 2019. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2019/07/024. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2019/07/024.

- [22] S. Mastrogiovanni, K. Leyde, C. Karathanasis, E. Chassande-Mottin, D. A. Steer, J. Gair, A. Ghosh, R. Gray, S. Mukherjee, and S. Rinaldi. On the importance of source population models for gravitational-wave cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 104(6), Sep 2021. ISSN 2470-0029. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.104.062009. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104. 062009.
- [23] Guadalupe Cañas-Herrera, Omar Contigiani, and Valeri Vardanyan. Cross-correlation of the astrophysical gravitational-wave background with galaxy clustering. *Physical Review D*, 102(4), Aug 2020. ISSN 2470-0029. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.102.043513. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.043513.
- [24] Francesca Calore, Alessandro Cuoco, Tania Regimbau, Surabhi Sachdev, and Pasquale Dario Serpico. Cross-correlating galaxy catalogs and gravitational waves: A tomographic approach. *Phys. Rev. Research*, 2:023314, Jun 2020. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.023314. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.023314.
- [25] Sharan Banagiri, Vuk Mandic, Claudia Scarlata, and Kate Z. Yang. Measuring angular n-point correlations of binary black hole merger gravitational-wave events with hierarchical bayesian inference. *Phys. Rev. D*, 102:063007, Sep 2020. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.102.063007. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.063007.
- [26] M. Fishbach et al. A standard siren measurement of the hubble constant from GW170817 without the electromagnetic counterpart. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 871(1):L13, jan 2019. doi: 10.3847/2041-8213/aaf96e. URL https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/aaf96e.
- [27] Walter Del Pozzo. Inference of cosmological parameters from gravitational waves: Applications to second generation interferometers. *Phys. Rev. D*, 86:043011, Aug 2012. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.86.043011. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.86.043011.
- [28] S. Mukherjee et al. Accurate precision cosmology with redshift unknown gravitational wave sources. *Physical Review D*, 103(4), Feb 2021. ISSN 2470-0029. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.103. 043520.
- [29] Misao Sasaki. The magnitude-redshift relation in a perturbed friedmann universe. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 228(3):653-669, 10 1987. ISSN 0035-8711. doi: 10.1093/mnras/228.3.653. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/228.3.653.
- [30] T. Pyne and M. Birkinshaw. The luminosity distance in perturbed FLRW space-times. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 348(2):581-588, 02 2004. ISSN 0035-8711. doi: 10. 1111/j.1365-2966.2004.07362.x. URL https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2966.2004.07362.x.
- [31] Lam Hui and Patrick B. Greene. Correlated fluctuations in luminosity distance and the importance of peculiar motion in supernova surveys. *Phys. Rev. D*, 73:123526, Jun 2006. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.73.123526. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.73.123526.
- [32] D. Bertacca et al. Cosmological perturbation effects on gravitational-wave luminosity distance estimates. *Physics of the Dark Universe*, 20:32–40, Jun 2018. ISSN 2212-6864. doi: 10.1016/j. dark.2018.03.001.
- [33] P. Zhang. The large scale structure in the 3d luminosity-distance space and its cosmological applications, 2018.
- [34] José Fonseca, Stefano Zazzera, Tessa Baker, and Chris Clarkson. The observed number counts in luminosity distance space, 4 2023.
- [35] D. Bertacca and A. et al. Begnoni. In preparation, 2022.

- [36] Alvise Raccanelli, Ely D. Kovetz, Simeon Bird, Ilias Cholis, and Julian B. Muñoz. Determining the progenitors of merging black-hole binaries. *Physical Review D*, 94(2), Jul 2016. ISSN 2470-0029. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.94.023516. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.023516.
- [37] Bernard Carr, Florian Kühnel, and Marit Sandstad. Primordial black holes as dark matter. *Physical Review D*, 94(8), Oct 2016. ISSN 2470-0029. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.94.083504. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.083504.
- [38] Misao Sasaki, Teruaki Suyama, Takahiro Tanaka, and Shuichiro Yokoyama. Primordial black holes—perspectives in gravitational wave astronomy. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 35(6): 063001, Feb 2018. ISSN 1361-6382. doi: 10.1088/1361-6382/aaa7b4. URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1088/1361-6382/aaa7b4.
- [39] Bernard Carr and Florian Kuhnel. Primordial black holes as dark matter candidates. SciPost Phys. Lect. Notes, 48:1, 2022. doi: 10.21468/SciPostPhysLectNotes.48.
- [40] Ken K. Y. Ng, Gabriele Franciolini, Emanuele Berti, Paolo Pani, Antonio Riotto, and Salvatore Vitale. Constraining high-redshift stellar-mass primordial black holes with nextgeneration ground-based gravitational-wave detectors. *The Astrophysical Journal Letters*, 933(2):L41, jul 2022. doi: 10.3847/2041-8213/ac7aae. URL https://doi.org/10. 38472F2041-82132Fac7aae.
- [41] To appear, 2023.
- [42] Y. Akrami et al. Planck 2018 results. IX. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity. Astron. Astrophys., 641:A9, 2020. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361/201935891.
- [43] Olivier Doré et al. Cosmology with the SPHEREX All-Sky Spectral Survey, 12 2014.
- [44] Olivier Doré et al. Science Impacts of the SPHEREX All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey: Report of a Community Workshop Examining Extragalactic, Galactic, Stellar and Planetary Science, 6 2016.
- [45] Olivier Doré et al. Science Impacts of the SPHEREX All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey II: Report of a Community Workshop on the Scientific Synergies Between the SPHEREX Survey and Other Astronomy Observatories, 5 2018.
- [46] Yun Wang, Massimo Robberto, Mark Dickinson, Lynne A. Hillenbrand, Wesley Fraser, Peter Behroozi, Jarle Brinchmann, Chia-Hsun Chuang, Andrea Cimatti, Robert Content, Emanuele Daddi, Henry C. Ferguson, Christopher Hirata, Michael J. Hudson, J. Davy Kirkpatrick, Alvaro Orsi, Russell Ryan, Alice Shapley, Mario Ballardini, Robert Barkhouser, James Bartlett, Robert Benjamin, Ranga Chary, Charlie Conroy, Megan Donahue, Olivier Doré, Peter Eisenhardt, Karl Glazebrook, George Helou, Sangeeta Malhotra, Lauro Moscardini, Jeffrey A. Newman, Zoran Ninkov, Michael Ressler, James Rhoads, Jason Rhodes, Daniel Scolnic, Stephen Smee, Francesco Valentino, and Risa H. Wechsler. ATLAS probe: Breakthrough science of galaxy evolution, cosmology, milky way, and the solar system. *Publications of the Astronomical Society of Australia*, 36, 2019. doi: 10.1017/pasa.2019.5. URL https://doi.org/10.1017%2Fpasa. 2019.5.
- [47] Yun Wang et al. Illuminating the dark universe with a very high density galaxy redshift survey over a wide area, 3 2019.
- [48] In preparation, 2023.
- [49] S. W. Hawking. Gravitational radiation from colliding black holes. Phys. Rev. Lett., 26:1344– 1346, May 1971. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.26.1344. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.26.1344.
- [50] B. J. Carr and S. W. Hawking. Black Holes in the Early Universe. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 168(2):399-415, 08 1974. ISSN 0035-8711. doi: 10.1093/mnras/168.2.399.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/168.2.399.

- [51] Ilia Musco, John C. Miller, and Luciano Rezzolla. Computations of primordial black hole formation. Class. Quant. Grav., 22:1405–1424, 2005. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/22/7/013.
- [52] Ilia Musco and John C. Miller. Primordial black hole formation in the early universe: critical behaviour and self-similarity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 30:145009, 2013. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/ 30/14/145009.
- [53] Cristiano Germani and Ilia Musco. Abundance of Primordial Black Holes Depends on the Shape of the Inflationary Power Spectrum. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 122(14):141302, 2019. doi: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.122.141302.
- [54] Alba Kalaja, Nicola Bellomo, Nicola Bartolo, Daniele Bertacca, Sabino Matarrese, Ilia Musco, Alvise Raccanelli, and Licia Verde. From primordial black holes abundance to primordial curvature power spectrum (and back). Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2019 (10):031-031, oct 2019. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2019/10/031. URL https://doi.org/10. 1088%2F1475-7516%2F2019%2F10%2F031.
- [55] Maxim Yu. Khlopov. Primordial Black Holes. Res. Astron. Astrophys., 10:495–528, 2010. doi: 10.1088/1674-4527/10/6/001.
- [56] B. J. Carr and James E. Lidsey. Primordial black holes and generalized constraints on chaotic inflation. *Physical Review D*, 48(2):543-553, 7 1993. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.48.543. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.48.543.
- [57] B. J. Carr, J. H. Gilbert, and James E. Lidsey. Black hole relics and inflation: Limits on blue perturbation spectra. *Physical Review D*, 50(8):4853-4867, 10 1994. ISSN 0556-2821. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.50.4853. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.50.4853.
- [58] Kazunori Kohri, Chia-Min Lin, and David H Lyth. More hilltop inflation models. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2007(12):004–004, 12 2007. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10. 1088/1475-7516/2007/12/004. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2007/12/004.
- [59] Jun'ichi Yokoyama. Chaotic new inflation and formation of primordial black holes. *Physical Review D*, 58(8), 9 1998. ISSN 1089-4918. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.58.083510. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.58.083510.
- [60] David H. Lyth, Carlo Ungarelli, and David Wands. Primordial density perturbation in the curvaton scenario. *Physical Review D*, 67(2), 1 2003. ISSN 1089-4918. doi: 10.1103/physrevd. 67.023503. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.67.023503.
- [61] Alexander G. Polnarev and Ilia Musco. Curvature profiles as initial conditions for primordial black hole formation. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 24:1405–1432, 2007. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/24/6/ 003.
- [62] V. De Luca, G. Franciolini, A. Kehagias, M. Peloso, A. Riotto, and C. Unal. The ineludible nongaussianity of the primordial black hole abundance. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2019(07):048–048, jul 2019. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2019/07/048. URL https:// doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2019%2F07%2F048.
- [63] Chul-Moon Yoo, Tomohiro Harada, Jaume Garriga, and Kazunori Kohri. Primordial black hole abundance from random Gaussian curvature perturbations and a local density threshold. *PTEP*, 2018(12):123E01, 2018. doi: 10.1093/ptep/pty120.
- [64] Samuel M. Leach, Ian J. Grivell, and Andrew R. Liddle. Black hole constraints on the runningmass inflation model. *Physical Review D*, 62(4), 7 2000. ISSN 1089-4918. doi: 10.1103/physrevd. 62.043516. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.62.043516.
- [65] Sayantan Choudhury and Anupam Mazumdar. Primordial blackholes and gravitational waves for an inflection-point model of inflation. *Phys. Lett. B*, 733:270–275, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j. physletb.2014.04.050.

- [66] S. W. Hawking, I. G. Moss, and J. M. Stewart. Bubble collisions in the very early universe. *Physical Review D*, 26(10):2681-2693, 11 1982. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.26.2681. URL https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.26.2681.
- [67] I. G. Moss. Black-hole bubbles. *Physical Review D*, 32(6):1333-1344, 9 1985. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.32.1333. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.32.1333.
- [68] K. M. Belotsky, A. D. Dmitriev, E. A. Esipova, V. A. Gani, A. V. Grobov, M. Yu. Khlopov, A. A. Kirillov, S. G. Rubin, and I. V. Svadkovsky. Signatures of primordial black hole dark matter. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A*, 29(37):1440005, 2014. doi: 10.1142/S0217732314400057.
- [69] Jie-Wen Chen, Mian Zhu, Sheng-Feng Yan, Qing-Qing Wang, and Yi-Fu Cai. Enhance primordial black hole abundance through the non-linear processes around bounce point. JCAP, 01: 015, 2023. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2023/01/015.
- [70] S. W. Hawking. Black holes from cosmic strings. Physics Letters B, 231(3):237–239, 11 1989. doi: 10.1016/0370-2693(89)90206-2.
- [71] Jaume Garriga and Maria Sakellariadou. Effects of friction on cosmic strings. *Physical Review* D, 48(6):2502-2515, 9 1993. ISSN 0556-2821. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.48.2502. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.48.2502.
- [72] Alexander C. Jenkins and Mairi Sakellariadou. Primordial black holes from cusp collapse on cosmic strings, 6 2020.
- [73] Nicola Bellomo, José Luis Bernal, Alvise Raccanelli, and Licia Verde. Primordial black holes as dark matter: converting constraints from monochromatic to extended mass distributions. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2018(01):004–004, Jan 2018. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2018/01/004. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2018/ 01/004.
- [74] V. De Luca, G. Franciolini, P. Pani, and A. Riotto. Primordial black holes confront ligo/virgo data: current situation. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2020(06):044-044, Jun 2020. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/06/044. URL http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/06/044.
- [75] Gabriele Franciolini, Vishal Baibhav, Valerio De Luca, Ken K. Y. Ng, Kaze W. K. Wong, Emanuele Berti, Paolo Pani, Antonio Riotto, and Salvatore Vitale. Searching for a subpopulation of primordial black holes in LIGO-Virgo gravitational-wave data. *Phys. Rev. D*, 105(8): 083526, 2022. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.105.083526.
- [76] Takashi Nakamura, Misao Sasaki, Takahiro Tanaka, and Kip S. Thorne. Gravitational waves from coalescing black hole macho binaries. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 487(2):L139–L142, 10 1997. ISSN 0004-637X. doi: 10.1086/310886. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/310886.
- [77] Kunihito Ioka, Takeshi Chiba, Takahiro Tanaka, and Takashi Nakamura. Black hole binary formation in the expanding universe: Three body problem approximation. *Physical Review D*, 58(6), 8 1998. ISSN 1089-4918. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.58.063003. URL http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.58.063003.
- [78] Yacine Ali-Haïmoud, Ely D. Kovetz, and Marc Kamionkowski. Merger rate of primordial blackhole binaries. *Physical Review D*, 96(12), Dec 2017. ISSN 2470-0029. doi: 10.1103/physrevd. 96.123523. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.123523.
- [79] Martti Raidal, Christian Spethmann, Ville Vaskonen, and Hardi Veermäe. Formation and evolution of primordial black hole binaries in the early universe. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2019(02):018–018, Feb 2019. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/ 2019/02/018. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2019/02/018.
- [80] L. Valbusa Dall'Armi, E. Vanzan, S. Libanore, N. Bellomo, and A. Raccanelli. In preparation, 2023.

- [81] Kim F Werner and Cristiano Porciani. Renormalization of linear halo bias in n-body simulations. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 492(2):1614–1633, Dec 2019. ISSN 1365-2966. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stz3469. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stz3469.
- [82] Varun Srivastava, Derek Davis, Kevin Kuns, Philippe Landry, Stefan Ballmer, Matthew Evans, Evan D. Hall, Jocelyn Read, and B. S. Sathyaprakash. Science-driven Tunable Design of Cosmic Explorer Detectors. Astrophys. J., 931(1):22, 2022. doi: 10.3847/1538-4357/ac5f04.
- [83] Francesco Iacovelli, Michele Mancarella, Stefano Foffa, and Michele Maggiore. Forecasting the Detection Capabilities of Third-generation Gravitational-wave Detectors Using GWFAST. *Astrophys. J.*, 941(2):208, 2022. doi: 10.3847/1538-4357/ac9cd4.
- [84] Peter Eggleton. Evolutionary Processes in Binary and Multiple Stars. Cambridge University Press, 2009. doi: https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511536205.
- [85] N. Ivanova, S. Justham, X. Chen, O. De Marco, C. L. Fryer, E. Gaburov, H. Ge, E. Glebbeek, Z. Han, X. D. Li, G. Lu, T. Marsh, P. Podsiadlowski, A. Potter, N. Soker, R. Taam, T. M. Tauris, E. P. J. van den Heuvel, and R. F. Webbink. Common envelope evolution: where we stand and how we can move forward. Astronomy and Astrophysics Reviews, 21:59, 2 2013. doi: 10.1007/s00159-013-0059-2.
- [86] Leor Barack, Vitor Cardoso, Samaya Nissanke, Thomas P Sotiriou, Abbas Askar, Chris Belczynski, Gianfranco Bertone, Edi Bon, Diego Blas, Richard Brito, and et al. Black holes, gravitational waves and fundamental physics: a roadmap. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 36(14):143001, 6 2019. ISSN 1361-6382. doi: 10.1088/1361-6382/ab0587. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1361-6382/ab0587.
- [87] Piero Madau and Mark Dickinson. Cosmic star-formation history. Annual Review of Astronomy and Astrophysics, 52(1):415-486, Aug 2014. ISSN 1545-4282. doi: 10.1146/annurev-astro-081811-125615. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-astro-081811-125615.
- [88] Matteo Peron, Sarah Libanore, Andrea Ravenni, Michele Liguori, and Maria Celeste Artale. Clustering of binary black hole mergers: a detailed analysis of the eagle+mobse simulation, 2023.
- [89] M Celeste Artale, Idit Zehavi, Sergio Contreras, and Peder Norberg. The impact of assembly bias on the halo occupation in hydrodynamical simulations. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 480(3):3978–3992, Aug 2018. ISSN 1365-2966. doi: 10.1093/mnras/ sty2110. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mnras/sty2110.
- [90] M Celeste Artale, Michela Mapelli, Yann Bouffanais, Nicola Giacobbo, Mario Pasquato, and Mario Spera. Mass and star formation rate of the host galaxies of compact binary mergers across cosmic time. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 491(3):3419–3434, Nov 2019. ISSN 1365-2966. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stz3190. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ mnras/stz3190.
- [91] M Celeste Artale, Michela Mapelli, Nicola Giacobbo, Nadeen B Sabha, Mario Spera, Filippo Santoliquido, and Alessandro Bressan. Host galaxies of merging compact objects: mass, star formation rate, metallicity, and colours. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 487(2):1675–1688, May 2019. ISSN 1365-2966. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stz1382. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stz1382.
- [92] T. Namikawa. Analyzing clustering of astrophysical gravitational-wave sources: luminositydistance space distortions. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2021(01):036–036, Jan 2021. ISSN 1475-7516. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2021/01/036.
- [93] The Planck Collaboration. Planck 2018 results. vi. cosmological parameters. Astronomy & Astrophysics, 641:A6, Sep 2020. ISSN 1432-0746. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361/201833910.

- [94] Ely D. Kovetz, Alvise Raccanelli, and Mubdi Rahman. Cosmological constraints with clusteringbased redshifts. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 468(3):3650-3656, mar 2017. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stx691. URL https://doi.org/10.1093%2Fmnras%2Fstx691.
- [95] Nicola Bellomo, José Luis Bernal, Giulio Scelfo, Alvise Raccanelli, and Licia Verde. Beware of commonly used approximations. part i. errors in forecasts. *Journal of Cosmology and As*troparticle Physics, 2020(10):016–016, oct 2020. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/10/016.
- [96] Giulio Scelfo, Lumen Boco, Andrea Lapi, and Matteo Viel. Exploring galaxies-gravitational waves cross-correlations as an astrophysical probe. *JCAP*, 10:045, 2020. doi: 10.1088/ 1475-7516/2020/10/045.
- [97] A. Cabre, P. Fosalba, E. Gaztanaga, and M. Manera. Error analysis in cross-correlation of sky maps: application to the integrated sachs-wolfe detection. *Monthly Notices of the Royal As*tronomical Society, 381(4):1347–1368, nov 2007. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2007.12280.x. URL https://doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1365-2966.2007.12280.x.
- [98] Enea Di Dio, Francesco Montanari, Ruth Durrer, and Julien Lesgourgues. Cosmological parameter estimation with large scale structure observations. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2014(01):042–042, jan 2014. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2014/01/042. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2014%2F01%2F042.
- [99] Gabriela Sato-Polito, José Luis Bernal, Ely D. Kovetz, and Marc Kamionkowski. Antisymmetric cross-correlation of line-intensity maps as a probe of reionization. *Physical Review D*, 102(4), aug 2020. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.102.043519. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd. 102.043519.
- [100] R. Abbott et al. Population of Merging Compact Binaries Inferred Using Gravitational Waves through GWTC-3. *Phys. Rev. X*, 13(1):011048, 2023. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevX.13.011048.
- [101] Samuel Young and Christian T. Byrnes. Long-short wavelength mode coupling tightens primordial black hole constraints. *Physical Review D*, 91(8), apr 2015. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.91. 083521. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd.91.083521.
- [102] Sam Young and Christian T. Byrnes. Signatures of non-gaussianity in the isocurvature modes of primordial black hole dark matter. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2015 (04):034-034, apr 2015. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2015/04/034. URL https://doi.org/10. 1088%2F1475-7516%2F2015%2F04%2F034.
- [103] Sam Young and Christian T. Byrnes. Initial clustering and the primordial black hole merger rate. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2020(03):004-004, mar 2020. doi: 10. 1088/1475-7516/2020/03/004. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2020%2F03% 2F004.
- [104] Sam Young, Ilia Musco, and Christian T. Byrnes. Primordial black hole formation and abundance: contribution from the non-linear relation between the density and curvature perturbation. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2019(11):012–012, nov 2019. doi: 10. 1088/1475-7516/2019/11/012. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2019%2F11% 2F012.
- [105] Guillermo Ballesteros, Pasquale D. Serpico, and Marco Taoso. On the merger rate of primordial black holes: effects of nearest neighbours distribution and clustering. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2018(10):043–043, oct 2018. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2018/10/043. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2018%2F10%2F043.
- [106] Vicente Atal, Albert Sanglas, and Nikolaos Triantafyllou. LIGO/virgo black holes and dark matter: the effect of spatial clustering. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2020 (11):036-036, nov 2020. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/11/036. URL https://doi.org/10. 1088%2F1475-7516%2F2020%2F11%2F036.

- [107] C. Alcock, R. A. Allsman, D. R. Alves, T. S. Axelrod, A. C. Becker, D. P. Bennett, K. H. Cook, N. Dalal, A. J. Drake, K. C. Freeman, M. Geha, K. Griest, M. J. Lehner, S. L. Marshall, D. Minniti, C. A. Nelson, B. A. Peterson, P. Popowski, M. R. Pratt, P. J. Quinn, C. W. Stubbs, W. Sutherland, A. B. Tomaney, T. Vandehei, D. L. Welch, and (The MACHO Collaboration). MACHO project limits on black hole dark matter in the 1–30 [ITAL]m[/ITAL][TINF]⊙[/TINF] range. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 550(2):L169–L172, apr 2001. doi: 10.1086/319636. URL https://doi.org/10.1086%2F319636.
- [108] Masamune Oguri, Jose M. Diego, Nick Kaiser, Patrick L. Kelly, and Tom Broadhurst. Understanding caustic crossings in giant arcs: Characteristic scales, event rates, and constraints on compact dark matter. *Physical Review D*, 97(2), jan 2018. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.97.023518. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd.97.023518.
- [109] P. Tisserand, L. Le Guillou, C. Afonso, J. N. Albert, J. Andersen, R. Ansari, É. Aubourg, P. Bareyre, J. P. Beaulieu, X. Charlot, C. Coutures, R. Ferlet, P. Fouqué, J. F. Glicenstein, B. Goldman, A. Gould, D. Graff, M. Gros, J. Haissinski, C. Hamadache, J. de Kat, T. Lasserre, É. Lesquoy, C. Loup, C. Magneville, J. B. Marquette, É. Maurice, A. Maury, A. Milsztajn, M. Moniez, N. Palanque-Delabrouille, O. Perdereau, Y. R. Rahal, J. Rich, M. Spiro, A. Vidal-Madjar, and L. Vigroux and. Limits on the macho content of the galactic halo from the EROS-2 survey of the magellanic clouds. Astronomy & Astrophysics, 469(2):387–404, apr 2007. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20066017. URL https://doi.org/10.1051%2F0004-6361%3A20066017.
- [110] Julien Manshanden, Daniele Gaggero, Gianfranco Bertone, Riley M.T. Connors, and Massimo Ricotti. Multi-wavelength astronomical searches for primordial black holes. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 2019(06):026–026, jun 2019. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/2019/ 06/026. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2019%2F06%2F026.
- [111] Pasquale D. Serpico, Vivian Poulin, Derek Inman, and Kazunori Kohri. Cosmic microwave background bounds on primordial black holes including dark matter halo accretion. *Physical Review Research*, 2(2), may 2020. doi: 10.1103/physrevresearch.2.023204. URL https://doi. org/10.1103%2Fphysrevresearch.2.023204.
- [112] Andi Hektor, Gert Hütsi, Luca Marzola, Martti Raidal, Ville Vaskonen, and Hardi Veermäe. Constraining primordial black holes with the EDGES 21-cm absorption signal. *Physical Review D*, 98(2), jul 2018. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.98.023503. URL https://doi.org/10.1103% 2Fphysrevd.98.023503.
- [113] Bo-Qiang Lu and Yue-Liang Wu. Constraining primordial black holes in dark matter with kinematics of dwarf galaxies. *Physical Review D*, 99(12), jun 2019. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.99. 123023. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd.99.123023.
- [114] Timothy D. Brandt. CONSTRAINTS ON MACHO DARK MATTER FROM COMPACT STELLAR SYSTEMS IN ULTRA-FAINT DWARF GALAXIES. The Astrophysical Journal, 824(2):L31, jun 2016. doi: 10.3847/2041-8205/824/2/l31. URL https://doi.org/10.3847% 2F2041-8205%2F824%2F2%2F131.
- [115] Miguel A. Monroy-Rodrí guez and Christine Allen. THE END OF THE MACHO ERA, RE-VISITED: NEW LIMITS ON MACHO MASSES FROM HALO WIDE BINARIES. The Astrophysical Journal, 790(2):159, jul 2014. doi: 10.1088/0004-637x/790/2/159. URL https: //doi.org/10.1088%2F0004-637x%2F790%2F2%2F159.
- [116] Zu-Cheng Chen, Chen Yuan, and Qing-Guo Huang. Pulsar timing array constraints on primordial black holes with NANOGrav 11-year dataset. *Physical Review Letters*, 124(25), jun 2020. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.124.251101. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevlett.124. 251101.
- [117] Miguel Zumalacarregui and Uros Seljak. Limits on stellar-mass compact objects as dark matter from gravitational lensing of type Ia supernovae. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 121(14):141101, 2018. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.141101.

- [118] Riccardo Murgia, Giulio Scelfo, Matteo Viel, and Alvise Raccanelli. Lyman-α Forest Constraints on Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 123(7):071102, 2019. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.071102.
- [119] Bradley J. Kavanagh, Daniele Gaggero, and Gianfranco Bertone. Merger rate of a subdominant population of primordial black holes. *Physical Review D*, 98(2), jul 2018. doi: 10.1103/physrevd. 98.023536. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd.98.023536.
- [120] B.P. Abbott et al. Search for subsolar mass ultracompact binaries in advanced LIGO's second observing run. *Physical Review Letters*, 123(16), oct 2019. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.123.161102. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevlett.123.161102.
- [121] Alexander H. Nitz and Yi-Fan Wang. Broad search for gravitational waves from subsolar-mass binaries through LIGO and virgo's third observing run. *Physical Review D*, 106(2), jul 2022. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.106.023024. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd.106.023024.
- [122] Caner Ünal, Ely D. Kovetz, and Subodh P. Patil. Multimessenger probes of inflationary fluctuations and primordial black holes. *Physical Review D*, 103(6), mar 2021. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.103.063519. URL https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysrevd.103.063519.
- [123] A. F. Heavens, T. D. Kitching, and L. Verde. On model selection forecasting, dark energy and modified gravity. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 380(3):1029–1035, Aug 2007. ISSN 0035-8711. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2007.12134.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2966.2007.12134.x.
- [124] H. Jeffreys. Theory of Probability. Oxford, Oxford, England, third edition, 1961.
- [125] Anthony Challinor and Antony Lewis. Linear power spectrum of observed source number counts. *Physical Review D*, 84(4), Aug 2011. ISSN 1550-2368. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.84.043516. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.84.043516.
- [126] José Luis Bernal, Nicola Bellomo, Alvise Raccanelli, and Licia Verde. Beware of commonly used approximations. part II. estimating systematic biases in the best-fit parameters. *Journal* of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2020(10):017–017, oct 2020. doi: 10.1088/1475-7516/ 2020/10/017. URL https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1475-7516%2F2020%2F10%2F017.

A Model dependence on subpopulation abundances

We show how the observed number distribution $d^2 N^{\text{GW}}/dz d\Omega$ from eq. (3.7) and the effective bias b(z) from eq. (3.10) change accordingly to variations in the EPBH fraction f^E . All the plots in this appendix are analogous to figure 1; the condition $f^E + f^L \ge 1$ reduces the cases of f^L available when f^E grows. The plots also show the degenerate cases $\{f^E, f^L\} = \{0, 0\}$, only ABH (blue line in figure 10), $\{f^E, f^L\} = \{0, 1\}$, only LPBH (black line in figure 10), $\{f^E, f^L\} = \{1, 0\} =$ only EPBH (blue line in figure 14).

We here consider the detector setup ET2CE, in which the fiducial case is $\mathcal{R}_0^{\text{tot}} = 27 \,\text{Gpc}^{-3} \text{yr}^{-1}$, $N^{\text{GW}} = 1.1 \times 10^5$ and $T_{\text{obs}} = 10 \,\text{yr}$. In the single ET case, instead, the overall observed number of events each year decreases to $N^{\text{GW}} = 8 \times 10^4$, therefore the overall normalization in the $d^2 N^{\text{GW}}/dz d\Omega$ plots is lower. The other modifications we introduce when dealing with this detector (namely, the different average beam size and the fraction of observed events described in figure 4) do affect neither the fiducial $d^2 N^{\text{GW}}/dz d\Omega$ nor b(z).



Figure 10. Analogous to figure 1, but in the case $f^E = 0$.



Figure 11. Analogous to figure 1, but in the case $f^E = 0.4$.

B Angular power spectrum formalism

Throughout this work, our observable is the angular power spectrum

$$\tilde{C}_{\ell}(z_i, z_j) = B_{\ell}^2 C_{\ell} = \exp\left[-\frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2} \frac{\Delta \tilde{\Omega}_{[\text{std}]}}{8 \log(2)}\right] C_{\ell}(z_i, z_j), \quad (B.1)$$

$$C_{\ell}(z_i, z_j) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int dk \ k^2 P(k) \Delta_{\ell}(z_i, k) \Delta_{\ell}(z_j, k) \quad , \tag{B.2}$$

where B_{ℓ} is the smoothing factor due to the Gaussian beam from eq. (4.1), that exponentially decreases the power, and $C_{\ell}(z_i, z_j)$ is the standard angular power spectrum; P(k) is the matter power spectrum, while the observed transfer functions $\Delta_{\ell}(z_{i,j}, k)$ depend on the source number distribution, the window function and the theoretical transfer functions, which contain information on the density perturbations and the redshift space distortions (see e.g., [125]



Figure 12. Analogous to figure 1, but in the case $f^E = 0.6$.



Figure 13. Analogous to figure 1, but in the case $f^E = 0.8$.

for the full expression and derivation). As we describe in section 4.1, we compute the angular power spectrum in 5 tomographic bins (including both i = j and $i \neq j$ components); to do so, we use and modify the public code Multi_Class [95, 126],⁷ taking into account the ABH and PBH number distributions described in section 3.1 and 3.2.

Figure 15 compares the theoretical C_{ℓ} with the smoothed \tilde{C}_{ℓ} that we use as observable. Eq. (B.1) is used to compute the angular power spectrum for a single tracer, being this GW or galaxies. For cross-angular power spectrum, we use the general formulation

$$\tilde{C}_{\ell}^{\mathrm{GWg}}(z_i, z_j) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int dk \, k^2 P(k) \left[B_{\ell} \int_{z_i - \Delta z}^{z_i + \Delta z} b(z) \frac{dN^{\mathrm{GW}}}{dz} \tilde{\Delta}_{\ell}^i \right] \left[\int_{z_j - \Delta z}^{z_j + \Delta z} b_g(z) \frac{dN^{\mathrm{g}}}{dz} \tilde{\Delta}_{\ell}^j \right], \quad (B.3)$$

where b(z), $b_g(z)$ are respectively the GW effective bias and the galaxy bias, dN^{GW}/dz , dN^{g}/dz the GW and galaxy number density per redshift bin and the transfer functions $\Delta^{i,j}$ include the density and redshift space distortion contributions.

⁷https://github.com/nbellomo/Multi_CLASS



Figure 14. Analogous to figure 1, but in the case $f^E = 1$.



Figure 15. Angular power spectra in the $z_i = z_j = 0.4$ bin for $f^E = 0.2$, ET2CE case, using overlapping (top) and non-overlapping (bottom) redshift bins. Dot-dashed lines show $C_{\ell}(z_i, z_j)$, while continuous lines are $\tilde{C}_{\ell}(z_i, z_j)$ from eq. (B.1).

Before running the full analysis, we checked the SNR of our theoretical only-ABH assumption, in the case of auto-power spectra (ij) = (pq). Figure 16 shows the ℓ -cumulative SNR for ET2CE. Note that the bulk of the information comes from intermediate redshifts $z \sim 2$, where the ABH number distribution peaks. Moreover, the \tilde{C}_{ℓ} SNR saturates only because of the smoothing factor on small scales adopted in eqs. (4.1), (B.1): this intuitively suggests that our results will be quite conservative and the clustering study could provide more stringent constraints on the PBH merger contribution if the sky localization was improved.



Figure 16. Cumulative signal-to-noise ratio of the ABH power spectrum in the i = j bins of our analysis, ET2CE case (left panel). The saturation is due to the smoothing factor B_{ℓ} in eq. (4.1), (B.1); if this was not taken into account, the SNR would largely increase (right panel). Top row refers to the overlapping bins case, while in the bottom row non-overlapping bins are used.

C Full set of results

C.1 SNR: detector dependence

Different values of $\{f^E, f^L\}$ determine different SNR in eq. (5.1). Its measurement in each scenario depends also on the detector: tables 2 and C.1 collects our results respectively for ET2CE and ET, alone or in cross-correlation with a wide or deep galaxy survey.

C.2 Fisher matrix: model dependence

In section 5.2 we computed forecasts for marginalized errors on ABH bias parameters and we showed how they can be used to distinguish the only-ABH scenario from the case in which both ABH and PBH contribute to the merger rate. Figure 5 compared ABH bias errorbars with the effective bias in the cases $f^E = 0.2$; panels in figure from 17 show the comparison in the cases $f^E = \{0, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1\}$ for the ET2CE scenario. Finally, table 4 collects results for the ET scenario, alone or in cross-correlation with galaxy surveys (similar plots to the previous ones can be produced for ET, ET×Wide survey and ET×Deep survey as well).

f^E															
ET2CE		Overlapping bins							Non-overlapping bins						
		0	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1	0	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1		
	0	0.	0.43	0.82	1.25	1.77	2.39	0.	0.60	1.23	2.00	2.94	4.09		
	0.2	0.19	0.66	1.16	1.74	2.44	-	0.32	1.02	1.85	2.90	4.21	-		
Γ	0.4	0.44	1.03	1.70	2.51	-	-	0.77	1.68	2.84	4.36	-	-		
f	0.6	0.83	1.63	2.61	-	-	-	1.45	2.76	4.54	-	-	-		
	0.8	1.51	2.74	-	-	-	-	2.63	4.80	-	-	-	-		
	1	2.92	-	-	-	-	-	5.15	-	-	-	-	-		
×V	Vide														
	0	0.	1.14	2.47	4.18	6.57	10.24	0.	1.59	3.52	6.02	9.47	14.68		
	0.2	0.66	2.04	3.87	6.47	10.67	-	1.21	3.00	5.65	9.40	15.35	-		
L I	0.4	1.61	3.52	6.36	11.26	-	-	2.94	5.24	9.33	16.25	-	-		
L.	0.6	3.13	6.23	12.08	-	-	-	5.65	9.24	17.49	-	-	-		
	0.8	6.06	13.31	-	-	-	-	10.74	19.31	-	-	-	-		
	1	15.40	-	-	-	-	-	26.63	-	-	-	-	-		
׼	Deep														
	0	0.	1.13	2.23	3.55	5.32	7.94	0.	1.31	2.79	4.68	7.30	11.27		
	0.2	0.45	1.75	3.21	5.16	8.19	-	0.70	2.28	4.30	7.16	11.71	-		
L	0.4	1.10	2.77	4.96	8.53	-	-	1.71	3.85	6.98	12.30	-	-		
f	0.6	2.16	4.68	9.02	-	-	-	- 3.32	6.75	13.14	-	-	-		
	0.8	4.24	9.78	-	-	-	-	6.43	14.42	-	-	-	-		
	1	11.22	-	-	-	-	-	16.72	-	-	-	-	-		

Table 2. SNR values in eq. (5.1) for the fiducial ET2CE case and the different models taken into account. Single tracer results provide above 2σ detection whenever PBH constitute $\geq 60\% - 80\%$ of the totality ($f^E + f^L \geq 0.6 - 0.8$), the specific value depending on the relative abundance of EPBH and LPBH. When cross-correlations are considered, above 2-3 σ detection is reached with PBH $\geq 40\%$.

C.3 Fisher matrix: detector dependence

The predicted constraining power on bias parameters depends on the detector properties. The following table is analogous to 1 when we adopt ET instead of ET2CE. The only-GW survey has no constraining power with uninformative prior, while it reduces to the amplitude of the prior itself when the Gaussian $50\%\sigma_b$ is considered. Cross-correlations improve the results; in particular, the wide survey leads to $\leq 100\%$ error at low-z in the case of uninformative prior.

Note that this result could be improved considering a larger local merger rate or a less conservative cut/smoothing on the small scales: for instance, in [9] marginalized errors $\leq 100\%$ were found up to $z \sim 3$ by using a sharp cutoff (i.e., no exponential smoothing from eq. (4.1), (B.1)) associated with $\Delta\Omega = 100 \text{ deg}^2$.

		f^E												
E	ET		Ov	erlapp	ping b	ins	Non-overlapping bins							
		0	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1	0	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1	
	0	0.	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.06	0.	0.02	0.03	0.06	0.09	0.12	
	0.2	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.06	-	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.09	0.13	-	
T	0.4	0.01	0.03	0.04	0.07	-	-	0.03	0.05	0.09	0.14	-	-	
f	0.6	0.02	0.04	0.07	-	-	-	0.05	0.09	0.14	-	-	-	
	0.8	0.04	0.07	-	-	-	-	0.80	0.16	-	-	-	-	
	1	0.08	-	-	-	-	-	0.17	-	-	-	-	-	
×Wide														
	0.	0.	0.08	0.17	0.29	0.47	0.75	0.	0.13	0.30	0.53	0.84	1.34	
	0.2	0.05	0.15	0.28	0.47	0.78	-	0.12	0.28	0.52	0.86	1.42	-	
Г	0.4	0.13	0.26	0.47	0.84	-	-	0.28	0.52	0.88	1.52	-	-	
f	0.6	0.25	0.47	0.91	-	-	-	0.52	0.91	1.67	-	-	-	
	0.8	0.47	1.02	-	-	-	-	0.96	1.87	-	-	-	-	
	1	1.19	-	-	-	-	-	2.18	-	-	-	-	-	
׼	Deep													
	0	0.	0.07	0.14	0.23	0.35	0.54	0.	0.09	0.19	0.33	0.52	0.81	
	0.2	0.03	0.11	0.21	0.35	0.56	-	0.06	0.17	0.32	0.52	0.85	-	
T	0.4	0.08	0.19	0.34	0.59	-	-	0.15	0.30	0.52	0.90	-	-	
f	0.6	0.16	0.32	0.63	-	-	-	0.29	0.53	0.98	-	-	-	
	0.8	0.31	0.69	-	-	-	-	0.53	1.09	-	-	-	-	
	1	0.80	-	-	-	-	-	1.27	-	-	-	-	-	

Table 3. Analogous to table 2, considering single ET as GW detector.

		Over	lapping	bins	Non-overlapping bins						
	b_1	b_2	b_3	b_4	b_1	b_2	b_3	b_4	b_5		
ET	1693%	1054%	988%	1634%	7266%	667%	494%	476%	880%	4997%	
ET, b_i^p prior	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	
×Wide survey	54%	35%	39%	120%	4302%	67%	53%	55%	131%	4309%	
×Deep survey	236%	160%	150%	210%	1000%	140%	107%	104%	149%	936%	

Table 4. Analogous to table 1, considering single ET as GW detector. Note that when we use a prior on the bias parameters, results are completely dominated by its value.



Figure 17. Analogous to the upper panel of figure 5, but in the cases $f^E = 0, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1$. Left panels refer to overlapping bins, right panels to non-overlapping bins.